# **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality  $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$  black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

# UM®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

.

# University of Alberta

Caenorhabditis elegans UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin-associated proteins

BY

Wanyuan Ao C

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Molecular Biology and Genetics

Department of Biological Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring, 2001



# National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-60271-0



## University of Alberta

#### Library Release Form

Name of Author: Wanyuan Ao

Title of Thesis: *Caenorhabditis elegans* UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin associated proteins

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Year This Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publications and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior's written permission.

Wanyuan Ao

307, 10815-83 Ave Edmonton, AB T6E 2E6

January 23, 2001

# University of Alberta

# Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "Caenorhabditis elegans UNC-45 Defines a Novel Class of Myosin-Associated Proteins" submitted by Wanyuan Ao in partial fulfillment for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular Biology and Genetics

Dr. D. Pilgum

r. J. Bell Dr. F. Nargang

Dr. T. Hobman

Jon, 22/01

Mun

Dr. D. Moerman

#### Abstract

Caenorhabditis elegans unc-45 is an essential gene with a maternal effect. Animals homozygous for unc-45 missense mutations show an uncoordinated phenotype and have disorganized body wall muscle structure. Homozygotes of unc-45 null mutations are inviable and arrest at the two-fold stage of embryogenesis. UNC-45 contains three tetratricopeptide repeats and has limited similarity to fungal proteins, but its biochemical function is unknown.

*unc-45* reporters are expressed exclusively in muscle cells, and a functional UNC-45::GFP fusion is localized in body wall muscles in a pattern similar to the A-bands. Immunofluorescence studies show that UNC-45 colocalizes to thick filaments with myosin heavy chain (MHC) B in wild-type worms, but not in a mutant in which MHC B is absent and in mutants in which MHC B is absent but the level of MHC A is increased. Thus, UNC-45 shows a localization pattern identical to and dependent on MHC B. Based on these observations, I propose that UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments. The role of UNC-45 in muscles may be as a cofactor for assembly or stabilization of MHC B.

In addition to its co-localization with MHC B in muscles, UNC-45 is also detectable in the germline cells of the gonad and pre-morphogenesis embryos. Moreover, I have demonstrated that UNC-45 interacts specifically with a non-muscle myosin (NMY-2) in yeast two-hybrid assays and the two proteins are also co-localized at the embryonic cleavage furrow *in vivo* in *C. elegans*. The localization of UNC-45 at the cleavage furrow is also dependent on the presence of NMY-2. These results suggest that maternally contributed UNC-45 may have a function other than muscle development.

Furthermore, UNC-45 also interacts with an additional unconventional myosin in yeast. This has allowed me to define a region of 140 amino acids that seems to be sufficient for UNC-45 to bind to myosin. Database searches also indicate that UNC-45 may have sequence homologues in *Drosophila* and humans. With these results and the previous genetic evidence that UNC-45 may interact with both MHC A and MHC B in body wall muscles, I propose that UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin-associated proteins.

#### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dave Pilgrim, for his support, help, advice and encouragement over these years. Under his patient supervision, I have learnt an unexpected amount of knowledge that will be invaluable for my future career development.

I thank all previous and current members of the Pilgrim lab for their help, suggestions, discussions. My thanks are to Morris Maduro, Dave Hansen, Petra Jackle-Baldwin, Paul Stothard, Angela Manning, Wayne Materi, Jessica Smith, Heather Lemon, Shawna Maguire, Janette Berg, Kathy Bueble, Tamara Checkland, Chantal Denholm, Serene Wohlgemuth and D'Arcy Page, and particular to Heather Lemon and Shawna Maguire for generating UNC-45 antibodies, Janette Berg and Wayne Materi for confirming the rescue of the UNC-45::GFP transgene, and Paul Stothard for sharing the same bench over five years.

I am grateful to the members of my supervisory committee, John Bell and Frank Nargang, for their time, advice and help, to Bernie Lemire and Ross Hodgetts for their support and serving as my candidacy examiners, to Tom Hobman and Don Moerman for serving as my thesis external examiners. I am also grateful to all the labs in the Genetics Wing for sharing facilities, reagents and ideas.

I thank my parents, parents-law, sisters, brother and brothers-law, who are far away in China, for their support, and especially my wife, Yuan Wan, and my son, Calvin Ao, for their support and "understanding" of science.

Lastly, I wish to thank Renate Zielke for her kind help for my family over the years.

# **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction		
1.1 Goals of this thesis	1	
1.2 C. elegans as a model system	2	
1.3 C. elegans muscle	4	
1.3.1 Muscle development	4	
1.3.2 Muscle structure	6	
1.3.3 Muscle genes	8	
1.3.4 Muscle assembly	11	
1.3.5 Muscle myosin	13	
1.4 C. elegans embryogenesis	18	
1.5 Genetic analysis of unc-45	21	
1.6 Molecular analysis of unc-45	24	
1.7 Summary of this thesis	26	
2. Materials and Methods		
2.1 Strains and genetics	29	
2.2 Northern analysis	29	
2.3 Sequencing of the C. briggsae unc-45 homologue	30	
2.4 Transgenic lines	30	
2.5 RNA interference	33	
2.6 Two-hybrid screen	34	
2.7 Motility assay	36	
2.8 Antibody production	36	

2.9 Microscopy	37
3. Results	39
3.1 unc-45 is a muscle-specific gene	39
3.1.1 unc-45 reporter genes are expressed specifically	
in muscles.	39
3.1.2 Functional UNC-45::GFP is expressed in all	
muscle cell types.	39
3.1.3 UNC-45 protein is detected in the germline cells	
of the gonad and pre-morphogenesis embryos.	40
3.1.4 UNC-45 begins to be enriched in the muscle cells	
at about 420-cell stage.	41
3.1.5 Zygotic UNC-45 is only expressed in muscles whereas	
maternal UNC-45 is present in the early embryo.	41
3.1.6 Northern analysis indicates that unc-45 gene has	
only one major transcript.	42
3.1.7 C. briggsae unc-45 homologue can functionally rescue	
unc-45 (ts) mutants.	43
3.1.8 Drosophila unc-45 homologue.	44
3.1.9 Putative unc-45 human homologue.	45

3.2 UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments and co-localizeswith myosin heavy chain B, but not myosin heavy A.45

.

3.2.1 Functional UNC-45::GFP is localized to the A bands	
of body wall muscles	45
3.2.2 UNC-45 is localized to the polar regions of thick filaments	
with myosin heavy chain B in the body wall muscles	
of wild-type worms	45
3.2.3 Mutant UNC-45 is still associated with thick filaments	
in unc-45 (ts) mutant worms grown at the restrictive	
temperature	46
3.2.4 UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments in unc-54	
null mutants in which MHC B is absent	47
3.2.5 UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments	
in unc-54 (0); sup-3 mutants in which MHC B is absent,	
but the amount of MHC A is increased	47
3.2.6 UNC-45 may be added to thick filaments	
after MHC isoforms are assembled	48
3.3 UNC-45 interacts with myosins in yeast two-hybrid assays	49
3.3.1 Yeast two-hybrid screens	49
3.3.2 UNC-45 interacts a non-muscle myosin	50
3.3.3 UNC-45 co-localizes with NMY-2 at the cell	
boundaries of the early embryo	51
3.4 Preliminary characterization of T05H10.5, a homologue of yeast	
ubiquitin fusion degradation protein (UFD2)	51

# 4. Discussion.

•

4.1 UNC-45 has distinct maternal and zygotic expression.	53
4.2 UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments.	54
4.3 Is the assembly of MHC A independent of UNC-45?	55
4.4 A model for UNC-45 function in muscles.	56
4.5 Maternal UNC-45 interacts with a non-muscle myosin NMY-2.	59
4.6 The possible role of maternal UNC-45 in early embryos.	60
4.7 UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin-associating protein	62
4.8 Ubiquitination system and CeUFD2	63
4.9 Sequence comparison of unc-45 C. elegans and C. briggsae	
homologues	65
4.10 Speculations for the roles of the putative Drosophila and	
human unc-45 homologues	66
4.11 Future directions	67
5 Astrowindgement	70
5. Acknowledgement	
6. Figures	
7. Tables	120
8. Bibliography	123

53

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1	A diagram showing the four quadrants of body wall muscle cells	. 74
Figure 1.2	A diagram of the sarcomere in vertebrates	75
Figure 1.3	Components of C. elegans thick and thin filaments	76
Figure 1.4	A model of the core structure of thick filaments	77
Figure 1.5	A diagram of a conventional myosin	78
Figure 1.6	The two myosin isoforms of body wall muscles	79
Figure 1.7	MHC A/MHC B chimeras molecules	80
Figure 1.8	Embryonic cell lineage of a C. elegans hermaphrodite	81
Figure 1.9	A diagram showing some specific stages of C. elegans	
	embryogenesis	82
Figure 1.10	Polarity of the C. elegans early embryo	83
Figure 1.11	Electron microscopy images of unc-45 (e286) muscles	84
Figure 1.12	UNC-45 sequence alignment	85
Figure 1.13	Transportation of Ash1 mRNA	86
Figure 3.1	unc-45::GFP expression	87
Figure 3.2	Zygotic unc-45::GFP expression	88
Figure 3.3	unc-45::lacZ expression	89
Figure 3.4	Motility assay of RW2329 and RW2665	90
Figure 3.5	Comparison of the functional UNC-45::GFP fusion protein	
	distribution and the muscle filament pattern	91
Figure 3.6	UNC-45 expression in the germline cells of the gonad	92
Figure 3.7	UNC-45 expression in the premorphogenesis embryos	93

Figure 3.8	In situ hybridization with unc-45 cDNA	94
Figure 3.9	UNC-45 begins to be enriched in muscles at the 420-cell stage	95
Figure 3.10	UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B in the body wall muscles	
	of wild type worms	97
Figure 3.11	Northern analysis	99
Figure 3.12	Comparison of unc-45 with its C. briggsae homologue	100
Figure 3.13	Alignment of C. elegans and C. briggsae UNC-45 homologues	101
Figure 3.14	Alignment of UNC-45 with its Drosophila homologue	102
Figure 3.15	Alignment of UNC-45 with its putative human homologue	103
Figure 3.16	A schematic diagram of muscle thick filaments	104
Figure 3.17	UNC-45 and MHC A staining in mutant worms	106
Figure 3.18	UNC-45 staining in L1 stage	108
Figure 3.19	Positive clones of yeast two-hybrid screens	109
Figure 3.20	A diagram showing the structures of HUM-2 and NMY-2	110
Figure 3.21	UNC-45/NMY-2 co-localization in early embryos	111
Figure 3.22	UNC-45 and CeUFD2 interaction	113
Figure 3.23	CeUFD2::GFP expression in nerve cells	114
Figure 3.24	CeUFD2::GFP expression in the intestine	115
Figure 4.1	A model for UNC-45 function	116
Figure 4.2	Sequence alignment of potential UBS sites in myosins	118
Figure 4.3	The ubiquitination pathway	119

# List of Tables

Table 1.1	C. elegans genes affecting muscle development	
	for which protein products are known.	121
Table 3.1	Muscle cell types and UNC-45 and MHC isoforms expression	122

# Abbreviations used in this thesis

- UNC: Uncoordinated
- MHC: Myosin heavy chain
- NMY: Non-muscle myosin
- UBS: UNC-45 binding site
- GFP: Green fluorescent protein
- UFD2: Ubiquitin fusion degradation protein-2
- U box: UFD2-homology region
- CeUFD2: C. elegans UFD2 homologue
- DIC: Differential interference contrast
- TPR: Tetratricopeptide repeats
- UTR: Untranslated region
- PCR: Polymerase chain reaction
- RNAi: RNA interference
- bHLH: Basic helix-loop-helix
- MADS box: Homology among yeast (MCM1, Agamous), plant (Deficiens) and
  - vertebrate (SRF) proteins
- SH3: Src homology type 3
- PH: Pleckstrin-homology
- KSL: Lysine-serine-proline
- IQ: Isoleucine-glutamine
- CDC: Cell division cycle
- Ub: Ubiquitin

kbp: Kilobase pairs

FERM domain: (4.1, ezrin, radixin, moesin)-like domain

- She: Suppressor of HO expression
- Pat: Paralyzed and arrested at two-fold stage
- Par: Partitioning-defective
- (ts): Temperature sensitive mutation
- (lf): Loss of function mutation
- (0): Null mutation
- TRITC: Tetramethyrhodamine B isothiocyanate
- FITC: Fluorescein isothiocyanate
- DAPI: Diamidophenylindole
- DTT: Dithiothreitol
- PIPES: 1,4 piperazinediethanesulfonic acid

#### **1. Introduction**

#### **1.1 Goals of this thesis**

The aim of this thesis was to determine the expression pattern of the *C. elegans* unc-45 gene, to characterize the function of the UNC-45 protein and to gain an understanding of its role in the development of *C. elegans*. The phenotype of unc-45 (ts) alleles has suggested that UNC-45 may play a regulatory role during muscle development, but how it plays such a role was unclear. Is UNC-45 a cytoplasmic regulator required for muscle lattice assembly? Or is it a component of muscle filaments with a catalytic activity? Is UNC-45 specifically required for muscle development? Or does it have a role other than in muscle? To test these hypotheses, the following approaches were used.

1). Northern analysis and reporter genes to determine the expression pattern of unc-45.

2). Yeast two-hybrid screens to identify proteins that may interact with UNC-45.

3). Immunofluorescence to determine the sub-cellular localization of UNC-45.

4). Database searches to identify putative homologues of *unc-45* in other species.

#### 1.2. C. elegans as a model system

How does muscle develop? The answer to this question may help to improve the performance of a nation's athletes on the Olympic stage. Whereas some people are born to win gold medals, some are born with hereditary muscle diseases (Mastaglia and Laing, 1996). Thus, investigations of muscle development should also shed light on the improvement of human health. The use of an animal model will be useful for such investigations since humans are not directly suitable for laboratory experiments (Nonaka, 1998).

C. elegans has proven to be an excellent model system for genetic and developmental analysis since its introduction into the scientific community by Brenner about 27 years ago (Brenner, 1974). This is largely due to its simplicity, fixed cell lineage, transparent body, facility of genetic analysis and the development of technology for reverse genetics (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997). However, in the area of muscle development, there is another unique advantage to the use of *C. elegans* as a model, which is its male/hermaphrodite sexual system. Hermaphrodites are self-fertile and any viable mutants can be easily maintained as homozygous stocks. Moreover, the fertilization of hermaphrodite worms is internal and they do not need to move to feed and mate (Waterston, 1988). Thus, even completely paralyzed worms are still viable and fertile. This has led to the isolation of many mutations in *C. elegans* which affect movement (uncoordinated or unc mutants) (Brenner, 1973 and 1974; Epstein and Thomson, 1974; Epstein, et al., 1974; Waterston, et al., 1974, 1977 and 1980; Zengel and Epstein, 1980) which would normally be lethal in other metazoans such as *Drosophila*.

The mechanisms governing muscle development and the regulation of muscle contraction are highly conserved across the metazoans (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997; Geeves and Holmes, 1999; Perry and Rudnicki, 2000; Sabourin and Rudnicki, 2000; Gordon, et al., 2000). Most of the basic transcription factors governing myogenesis such as MyoD and Twist have been shown to play a similar role in both vertebrates and invertebrates (Harfe, et al., 1998b; Zhang, et al., 1999; Corsi, et al., 2000), although the *C. elegans* MEF2 homologue seems to have evolved a divergent role in development (Naya and Olson, 1999; Dichoso et al., 2000). Not only are most of the major proteins of the contractile apparatus conserved between *C. elegans* and vertebrates (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997; Gordon, et al., 2000), but also the processes of myofibril assembly are very similar (Barral and Epstein, 1999; Cripps, et al., 1999; Gregorio, et al., 1999; Gregorio and Antin, 2000). It has been expected that any discoveries regarding muscle development, structure and function using a model system will be applicable to medical research and benefit humans as well.

The precisely organized sarcomeres in the muscle myofibrils arise partially by self-assembly of the actin and myosin filaments (Holtzer, et al., 1997). However, there must also be unidentified proteins participating in the assembly process or regulating muscle development in general. The availability of genetic tools and the functional conservation make *C. elegans* one of the good model organisms to search for such new molecules as mentioned above. It was in *C. elegans* that the first complete sequence of a myosin heavy chain (Epstein et al., 1974; MacLeod et al., 1981; Karn et al., 1983; Dibb et al., 1985 and 1989) and the best evidence that thick and thin filaments show independent assembly (Epstein and Fischman, 1991) were provided. *C. elegans* has also

allowed the discovery of new muscle proteins or proteins involved in the regulation of muscle development (Goetinck and Waterston, 1994; Benian et al., 1996; Venolia et al. 1999; Hresko, et al., 1999; Ding and Candido, 2000; Rogalski, et al., 2000; Plenefisch, et al., 2000).

# 1.3 C. elegans muscle

# 1.3.1 Muscle development

In vertebrates, several families of transcription factor have been shown to be involved in the regulation of myogenesis (Sabourin and Rudnicki, 2000; Perry and Rudnicki, 2000), including the MyoD family of myogenic regulatory factors, the MEF2 family of conserved myocyte enhancer factors and a subfamily of Twist transcription factors. The MyoD family is a group of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors, with four identified members: MyoD, Myf-5, myogenin and MRF4 (Davis, et al., 1987; Wright et al., 1989; Edmonson and Olson, 1989; Braun, et al., 1989a, 1989b and 1990; Rhodes and Konieczny, 1989; Miner and Wold, 1989), each of which has distinct roles during myogenesis. MyoD and Myf-5 are required at an early stage of skeletal muscle differentiation (Rudnicki, et al., 1992 and 1993; Rudnicki and Jaenisch, 1995), whereas myogenin plays a role in a late stage in the differentiation process (Hasty, et al., 1993; Nabeshima, et al., 1993). The MEF2 family is a group of MADS-box-containing transcription factors and is required for full transcription of muscle-specific genes (Black, et al., 1996; Black and Olson, 1998; Naya and Olson, 1999). Twist homologues are also bHLH transcription factors required for muscle differentiation in vertebrates (Hopwood, et al., 1989; Wang, et al., 1997; Anant et al., 1998).

In C. elegans, there are a total of 156 muscle cells in adult males and 135 in adult hermaphrodites (Waterston, 1988). Although the generation of these cells has been well described in cell lineages (Sulston and Horvitz, 1977; Sulston et al., 1983), the molecular mechanisms governing muscle development and its function are unclear. C. elegans has only one member of the MyoD family, which is encoded by the hlh-l gene. The expression of *hlh-1* can convert a mouse fibroblast cell line into muscle and the protein product (CeMyoD) of hlh-1 is expressed in myoblasts (Krause et al., 1990 and 1992), indicating that *hlh-1* may be a functional homologue of MyoD. CeMyoD is expressed exclusively in the body wall muscles and their precursor cells but not in the pharyngeal muscles or their precursor cells (Krause et al., 1990) Genetic evidence also suggests that CeMyoD expression during embryogenesis is essential for proper muscle function and for overall morphogenesis of C. elegans (Chen et al., 1994; Krause, et al., 1994). An animal homozygous for an *hlh-1* null mutation has body wall muscles, but displays only partial body wall muscle contractile function, and arrests as an embryo (Chen et al., 1992). The role of *hlh-1* in development is still unclear since it has also been shown that *hlh-1* is involved in the specification of non-muscle cell fate during postembryonic development of the mesoderm (Harfe, et al., 1998a). However, it has been recently demonstrated that the function of MyoD homologues is evolutionarily conserved since the Drosophila and chicken MyoD factors can rescue the CeMyoD loss-of-function phenotype in C. elegans (Zhang, et al., 1999).

A C. elegans Twist homologue (CeTwist) has also been recently identified and analyzed (Harfe, et al., 1998b; Corsi, et al., 2000). CeTwist is encoded by *hlh-8* and plays an essential role in non-striated muscle development. It is required for embryonic formation of the non-striated enteric muscle cells, the later formation of the non-striated sex muscles and patterning in the post-embryonic M mesodermal lineage (Corsi, et al., 2000). However, it seems that the *C. elegans* MEF2 homologue (CeMEF2) has a divergent role in development in the nematode compared with *Drosophila* and vertebrates. CeMEF2 is not essential for myogenesis or development and a null *mef-2* allele can not enhance or suppress the phenotype of CeMyoD or CeTwist mutants (Dichoso, et al., 2000).

#### 1.3.2 Muscle structure

Anatomically, the muscle system of *C. elegans* is very simple. As mentioned above, there are a total of only 156 muscle cells in adult males and 135 in adult hermaphrodites (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997). These muscle cells can be subdivided according to their functions. For locomotion, there are 95 body wall muscles which are the only striated muscles (multiple sarcomeres) in the worm and are arranged in four quadrants with 23 in the left and 24 each in the other three (right, ventral and dorsal. Figure 1.1). 81 of these cells are generated during embryogenesis and the other 14 muscles are generated during larval development. For grinding food, there are 20 pharyngeal muscles that are organized into eight distinct muscle layers, each of which has three fold radial symmetry. There are also two intestinal muscles used for intestinal contraction and two anal muscles (one sphincter and one depressor) used for defecation. In males, there are 41 additional specialized muscles that are added to the tail during post-embryonic development and are used for mating. In hermaphrodites, 16 (eight vulval and eight uterine muscles and the contractile gonad sheath) muscles are added that

are used to control fertilization and egg-laying (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997).

The basic organization and structure of C. elegans muscles are similar to those of vertebrates, but there are also some differences (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997). A body wall muscle cell can be divided into three main parts: (i) the cell body, which contains the nucleus and cytoplasmic organelles, (ii) the muscle arm, which extends from the cell body to the nerve cord for receiving synaptic input from the motor neurons, and (iii) the contractile myofilament lattice, which is spindle-shaped and lies beneath the cell surface and is anchored to the membrane adjacent to the hypodermis (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997). The basic unit for muscle contraction is similar to the sarcomere in vertebrates which is composed of mainly thick filaments, thin filaments, M-lines and dense bodies (corresponding to the Z-lines in vertebrate muscle. Figure 1.2). The myosin-containing thick filaments are stacked in the center and aligned by the M-lines which are anchored to the membrane and function to maintain the alignment (Francis and Waterston, 1985). The thick filaments are not directly attached to any peripheral cellular structures but interact with two sets of actin-containing thin filaments which in turn are attached to the dense bodies at both ends (Waterston, et al., 1980). The dense bodies are finger-shaped structures originating from the cell membrane that is adjacent to the hypodermis and play a role in the maintenance of the alignment of thin filaments. The dense bodies are connected to the basement membrane by a transmembrane complex which allows the transmission of contractile force from the hypodermis to the overlying cuticle (Moerman and Fire, 1997). As they appear under the electron microscope, the A-bands are the thick-filament-containing regions whereas the I-

bands are the thin-filament-containing regions (without the overlapping regions). The Hzones are those regions that contain only thick filaments (Moerman and Fire, 1997).

There are three major aspects that make C. elegans muscle structure different from that of vertebrates (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997). The nematode muscle is organized obliquely compared with the cross-striated muscle in vertebrates (Rosenbluth, 1965; Francis and Waterston, 1985). The filaments are longitudinally oriented with an angle of about 6° to the axes of both the A-band and the body of the animal (Mackenzie and Epstein, 1980). The size and length of filaments in the C. elegans adult are also different from those in vertebrates. In C. elegans, the thick filaments are about 10 µm in length and taper in diameter from about 33.4 nm in the center to 14 nm in the distal (Mackenzie and Epstein, 1980; Epstein, et al., 1985), whereas vertebrate thick filaments in striated muscle are 1.6 µm in length and 12.0-14.0 nm in diameter (Harrington, 1979). In addition to myosin, C. elegans thick filaments contain paramyosin as a major component which is not seen in vertebrates. The thin filaments are about 6 µm long in C. elegans and 1 µm in vertebrates, but they are similar in diameter. Another difference is the attachment of muscles and, in turn, the transmission of tension. In vertebrates, the ends of muscle cells contain attachment plaques which can transfer the tension. However, the tension is transferred by the lateral attachments directly to the cuticle mediated by structures of the dense bodies and M-lines in the nematode (Waterston, 1988; Moerman and Fire, 1997).

## 1.3.3 Muscle genes

Besides the mutations originally reported by Brenner (1973 and 1974) as affecting muscle structure in *C. elegans*, several other screens have also been carried out to identify

additional genes that may affect muscle structure, function or development in *C. elegans* (Waterston, et al., 1980 and 1984; Williams and Waterston, 1994; Ahnn and Fire, 1994; Plenefisch, et al., 2000). In particular, Williams and Waterston have isolated a class of genes with a "Pat" phenotype (paralyzed and arrested at two-fold stage) which is a typical severe phenotype of muscle defects (Williams and Waterston, 1994). To date, more than 70 genes that are involved in the regulation of muscle development and structure have been identified. Mutations in most of these genes affect the structure of muscle, whereas some others seem to be involved in the regulation of muscle contraction and attachments (Waterston, 1988; Rogalski, et al., 1993 and 1995; Williams and Waterston, 1994; Mullen et al., 1999; Plenefisch et al., 2000). Table 1-1 is a list of the genes and their products that affect muscle development or structure. There are also a few proteins that have been characterized biochemically and proposed to be components of muscle thick filaments ( $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ - filagenin), but their gene loci have not yet been reported (Liu et al., 1998; Liu and Epstein, per. comm.).

*myo-1, myo-2, myo-3* (Albertson, 1985; Miller et al., 1986; Waterston, 1989) and unc-54 (Mackenzie, et al., 1978; Bejsovec and Anderson, 1988) are the four structural genes that encode MHC C, D, A and B, respectively. MHC C and D are found in the pharyngeal muscles and MHC A and B in other muscles (Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987). unc-15 encodes paramyosin (Mackenzie and Epstein, 1980; Kagawa, et al., 1989) which is also a major component of thick filaments in all muscles (Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987).  $\beta$ -filagenin has also been shown to be a core protein of thick filaments (Liu et al., 1998). *mlc-1* and *mlc-2* are two genes encoding the regulatory myosin light chains (Rushforth, et al., 1998). *mlc-1* and *mlc-2* have some overlapping function in some muscle types and *mlc-2* is essential (Rushforth, et al., 1998). Actin isoforms of the major components of thin filaments are encoded by *act-1* to *act-4* (Files, et al.,1983; Krause and Hirsh, 1987; Stone and Shaw, 1993), whereas tropomyosin and troponin C and T which are also components of thin filaments are encoded by *lev-11*, *pat-10* and *mup-2*, respectively (Williams and Waterston, 1994; Kagawa, et al., 1989 and 1995; Myers, et al., 1996; Terami, et al., 1999). *unc-60* and *unc-87* encode two actin-associating proteins (McKim et al., 1994; Goetinck and Waterston, 1994a and 1994b). The UNC-60 protein shows similarity to the ADF/cofilin family of actin-binding proteins and is required for proper assembly of actin into myofibrils (Ono, et al, 1999), while the UNC-87 protein has some sequence similarity to vertebrate calponin and is a structural component for maintaining the integrity of myofibril lattice of body wall muscles during and after contraction (Goetinck and Waterston, 1994a).

Genes encoding components of other parts of muscle structure or regulatory factors required for muscle development have also been characterized. *deb-1, pat-2, pat-3* and *unc-52* encode vinculin,  $\alpha$ -integrin,  $\beta$ -integrin and perlecan, respectively (Barstead and Waterston, 1989 and 1991; Barstead, et al., 1991; Williams and Waterston, 1994; Gettner, et al., 1995; Rogalski, et al., 1993), which are components of the extracellular matrix or basement membrane and are involved in the attachment of muscle cells. *unc-22* and *unc-89* encode two large proteins belonging to the twitchin/titin family (Moerman, et al., 1986 and 1988; Benian, et la., 1989, 1993 and 1996). The UNC-22 protein possesses a kinase domain at its C-terminus and is localized to the A-band region of the sarcomere, suggesting a role in the regulation of muscle contraction (Benian, et al., 1989). The UNC-89 protein is probably associated with the M-line and may be involved in the G-protein-

mediated signal transduction pathway regulating the alignment of thick filaments (Benian, et al., 1996). The emb-9 and let-2 gene products are type IV collagen molecules which are also components of muscle-associated basement membranes (Sibley, et al., 1993 and 1994). atn-1 encodes  $\alpha$ -actinin, the major component of dense bodies (Barstead, et al., 1991). The unc-93 gene product is a putative trans-membrane protein that regulates muscle contraction (Levin and Horvitz, 1992), unc-97 encodes a LIM protein that functions in adherens junction assembly of muscles (Hobert, et al., 1999) and unc-112 encodes a protein of the FERM family that is required to organize  $\beta$ -integrin into the basal cell membrane (Rogalski, et al., 2000). hlh-1 and hlh-8 encode two transcription factors: MyoD and Twist, respectively (Krause et al., 1994 and Corsi, et la., 2000) as discussed earlier. etr-1, encoding a RNA-binding protein, is essential for muscle development (Milne and Hodgkin, 1999). UNC-68, a ryanodine receptor, is involved in the regulation of calcium ions in the striated muscles (Maryon et al., 1998). HSP-25, a heat shock protein, is associated with the dense bodies and M-lines of body wall muscle (Ding and Candido, 2000). Some *mua* genes have also been shown to be required for muscle attachments (Plenefisch, et al., 2000). Finally, the subject of this thesis, unc-45, one of the first mutants reported in C. elegans, is involved in the regulation of muscle thick filament assembly (Epstein and Thomson, 1974) and is also essential for muscle development (Venolia and Waterston, 1990), but its molecular function is unclear.

### 1.3.4 Muscle assembly

As mentioned above, *C. elegans* muscle thick filaments are mainly composed of paramyosin, myosin and filagenins, whereas thin filaments consist of actin, tropomyosin

and troponin (Figure 1.3). However, how these individual components are assembled into the precisely organized myofilament lattice is still not well understood.

Based on immuno-electron microscopy studies and computer analyses, a threedimensional model for *C. elegans* muscle thick filaments has been proposed (Epstein, et al., 1995; Liu, et al., 1997; Schmid and Epstein, 1998; Barral and Epstein, 1999). In this model, muscle thick filaments are rigid coupled tubules and their core structures are composed of an outer layer of seven paramyosin-containing subfilaments which are cross-linked by other proteins, such as filagenins and additional internal proteins (Figure 1.4 A). Each subfilament consists of two strands of paramyosin molecules which are staggered by 72 nm with respect to one another with a 22 nm gap between consecutive paramyosin molecules in each strand (Epstein et al., 1995. Figure 1.4 B). The non-helical ends of paramyosin and the unpaired regions contain sites for interaction with other molecules which may be critical for the assembly of thick filaments and their regulation. Upon this backbone, additional paramyosin and myosin isoforms and other additional proteins are assembled.

The members of the twitchin/titin family may also be involved in the regulation of muscle assembly or contraction (Johnson and Quiocho, 1996; Gregorio, et al., 1999; Gregorio and Antin, 2000). In *C. elegans*, twitchin is encoded by *unc-22* and is a 750 kD giant protein which contains a single protein kinase domain at its C-terminus, 31 copies of a fibronectin type-III-like domain, and 30 copies of an immunoglobulin superfamily C2-like domain (Benian et al., 1989 and 1993). Twitchin co-localizes with MHC B in muscle A-bands and may play a role in the regulation of muscle contraction, since *unc-22* mutant animals have near-normal muscle structure at young stages but progressively get

disorganized muscle structure with age, which is probably caused by the constant twitching of muscle cells (Moerman et al., 1988; Benian, et al., 1989 and 1993). *unc-89* also encodes a 732 kD member of the twitchin/titin family (Benian et al., 1996) which contains a complex series of SH3, CDC24 and PH (Pleckstrin-Homology) domains, seven immuno-globulin domains, a KSP (Lysine-Serine-Proline)-containing multiphosphorylation domain, and 46 immuno-globulin domains in tandem. UNC-89 is localized to the middle of muscle A-bands and may be associated with the M-line (Benian, et al., 1996). It may function in regulation of the alignment of thick filaments since *unc-89* mutant animals have a normal thick filament number but improper alignment (Waterston, et al., 1980). UNC-45 is another protein which has been suggested to be involved in the regulation of thick filament assembly (Epstein and Thomson, 1974; Venolia and Waterston, 1990). UNC-45 contains three tetratricopeptide repeats (TPR) at its N-terminus and much of its C-terminus shows similarity to the yeast She4 protein (Barral and Epstein, 1998; Venolia, et al., 1999), but its function is unknown.

#### 1.3.5 Muscle myosin

Myosins are a large superfamily of actin-dependent molecular motors characterized by their interaction with actin, hydrolysis of ATP and production of movement using the generated energy (Titus, 1998; Sellers, et al., 2000; Rodriguez and Cheney, 2000). Typically, a myosin molecule has three functional domains: (i) the head domain (also called the motor domain) which interacts with actin and binds ATP, generating energy; (ii) the neck domain which binds to myosin light chains or calmodulin, functioning in regulation; and (iii) the rod domain (or the tail domain) which serves to anchor and position the motor domain to interact with actin (Figure 1.5). The head domains are highly conserved, while the tail domain can vary widely in length and sequence. The neck domains usually contain a few IQ motifs that bind with light chains or calmodulin, whereas the tail domains may contain one or more functional domains, such as SH3 and FERM domains (Sellers, 2000). In addition, the tail of many myosins are coiled-coil sequences which function in dimerizing and producing two-headed myosins (Figure 1.5).

Phylogenetically, the myosin family is divided into 15 classes. The largest and best-characterized group includes the class II myosins which are the conventional filament-forming myosins found in both muscle and non-muscle cells. Little is known about the cellular functions of other unconventional myosins (Mooseker and Cheney, 1995; Baker and Titus, 1997) except that class I myosins are involved in organelle translocation, ion channel gating and cytoskeletal reorganization (Barylko, et al., 2000); class V myosins function in mRNA transport, cell polarity and membrane trafficking (Reck-Peterson, et al., 2000); and class III & IX myosins appear to play a role in phototransduction and other signaling pathways (Bahler, 2000). Interestingly, there is no conventional class II myosin found in plants, but some myosin classes (VII, XI and XIII) are found exclusively in plants. However, all animals examined contain at least one myosin II gene and usually multiple myosin I genes (Seller, 2000). While most characterized myosins move only towards the barbed (+) end of the actin filament, an unconventional myosin (class VI) has recently been shown to move "backwards" to the pointed (-) end of the actin filament (Schliwa, 1999; Wells, et al, 1999). This raises intriguing questions about the molecular mechanisms of "backward" movement and biological roles of this myosin (Cramer, 2000; Rodriguez and Cheney, 2000; Titus,

14

2000). There is evidence suggesting that myosin VI may play a role in organelle or particle transport and membrane-cytoskeleton interaction (Mermall, et al., 1994; Hasson, et al., 1997; Kelleher, et al., 1999), but this transportation may bring materials or membrane into the cell (Titus, 2000) and this interaction could be involved in generation of a cell expansion force (Cramer, 2000).

In C. elegans, there are four genes for muscle myosin II (myo-1, myo-2, myo-3 and unc-54), two for non-muscle myosin II (nmy-1 and nmy-2), two for myosin I (hum-1 and hum-5), and one each for myosin V (hum-2), myosin VI (hum-3), myosin VII (hum-6) and myosin XII (hum-4) as reported so far (Baker and Titus, 1997). The four muscle myosin II genes encode the myosin heavy chain isoforms (MHC A, B, C and D), respectively, which are major components of thick filaments as mentioned earlier. The non-muscle myosin II gene, nmy-2, encodes NMY-2 which is detected in the germ-line cells of the gonad and premorphogenesis embryos, and is involved in regulating embryonic polarity and cytokinesis (Guo and Kemphues, 1996; Shelton, et al., 1999). nmy-1 and all other unconventional myosin genes have not yet been characterized.

MHC C and D are expressed exclusively in the pharyngeal muscles, whereas MHC A and B are expressed in body wall muscles and other single-sarcomere muscles (Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987), but how these myosin isoforms are assembled into muscle thick filaments is not yet well understood. As discussed earlier, the core structure of thick filaments is composed of seven paramyosin subfilaments and associated proteins, which may be a template for later myosin assembly. Although there are two myosin isoforms in an individual muscle cell, these myosins primarily exist as homodimers rather than heterodimers (Schachat et al., 1978). In the body wall muscles, it has been demonstrated

that MHC A and B are differentially localized in the thick filaments (Miller, et al., 1983). MHC A is localized in the central area (1.8  $\mu$ m long) of the thick filament and MHC B in the two polar regions (about 4.4 µm in length) with about 0.45 µm overlap region on each side with MHC A. MHC A is essential for the initiation of assembly since animals lacking MHC A are arrested at the two-fold stage and no normal thick filaments are formed in muscles (Waterston, 1989). However, MHC B null animals are viable but have disorganized thick filaments, some of which are wild-type in length and entirely composed of MHC A (Epstein, et al., 1974 and 1986). This indicates that MHC A is capable of at least partially replacing MHC B function. This is further supported by sup-3 mutants in which MHC A is overexpressed, thick filaments are nearly normal and movement is largely restored even if MHC B is absent (Riddle and Brenner, 1978; Maruyama, et al., 1989). In contrast, overexpression of MHC B cannot rescue mutants that lack MHC A (Waterston, 1989). Interestingly, it has also been shown that the differential localization of MHC A and B in thick filaments is disrupted in unc-45 (ts) mutants (Barral and Epstein, 1998), but how the unc-45 gene product (UNC-45) is involved in the assembly or localization of MHC A and B is unclear.

As discussed earlier, MHC A and B are conventional myosin II molecules. Their tail domains exhibit the typical features of coiled-coil structure and form homodimers. Whereas MHC B dimer molecules are packed in a parallel manner in the two polar regions of thick filaments, MHC A must be packed in an antiparallel manner in order to generate the central bare zone where no myosin heads are present (Figure 1.6). MHC A is present in this central region and it must have some unique features that allow it to assemble at the M-line and be capable of antiparallel packing. To map the regions unique

to MHC A that are sufficient for the initiation of thick filament assembly, DNA constructs that can encode MHC A/MHC B chimerical proteins in vivo after transformation were produced (Hoppe and Waterston, 1996. Figure 1.7). After analysis of their ability to rescue an MHC A null mutant and produce thick filaments, two MHC A-function specific regions have been determined. One is a 263-residue segment localized in the middle of the rod domain of MHC A and the other one is 169-residues near the end of the C-terminus of MHC A (Figure 1.7). Either is sufficient to confer MHC B the ability to rescue a MHC A null mutant (Hoppe and Waterston, 1996). In these two critical regions, MHC A is more hydrophobic on the rod outer surface which is thought to mediate dimer-dimer interactions for filament assembly. Moreover, this feature makes MHC A more similar to paramyosin and has led to the suggestion that close contacts between MHC A and paramyosin may be critical for the antiparallel packing of MHC A in the central region (Hoppe and Waterston, 1996). There is evidence that ionic interactions play an important role in myosin rod assembly (Arrizubeita and Bandman, 1998) and that even a single charge change within the rod domain can inhibit filament assembly (Moores and Spudich, 1998).

Whereas the rod domains of myosins are involved in the assembly of thick filaments, the head domains are mainly required for other functions, such as ATP hydrolysis for converting chemical energy into mechanical energy and actin-binding for generating movement. There is a class of missense mutations within the MHC B head domain, which largely affect the contraction-relaxation cycle with a long duration of tight binding between myosin and actin but have no or little effect on muscle structure and motility (Moerman, et al., 1982; Dibb et al., 1985). There is also evidence from Drosophila that myosins without the head domain can assemble into thick filaments (Cripps, et al., 1999). However, there is another class of MHC B missense alleles that suggest a role for the myosin head domain in filament assembly (Bejsovec and Anderson, 1988 and 1990). These alleles were identified as dominant-negative mutations. Heterozygous unc-54 (d) worms are paralyzed and have disorganized thick filaments, whereas homozygous animals are very sick or inviable. It has been proposed that the unc-54 (d)-induced lethality is caused by the toxicity of the remaining altered MHC B in the muscles since unc-54(0) mutants are viable although paralyzed (Bejsovec and Anderson, 1990). How the myosin head domain is involved in the assembly or stability of thick filaments is not understood.

#### 1.4 C. elegans embryogenesis

# 1.4.1 Overview of embryogenesis

*C. elegans* embryogenesis has been described in detail (Sulston, et al., 1983; Wood, 1988; Strome, 1989). At 20°C, it takes about 14 hours for a newly fertilized zygote to complete embryogenesis and hatch into a larva. After fertilization, the embryo undergoes a series of unequal cell divisions to produce somatic founder cells (AB, E, MS, C and D) and the primodial germ cell (P4) in the first few hours (Figure 1.8). At the 28cell stage, gastrulation begins when the two daughters of E move to the interior of the embryo, followed later by P4 and some of the descendants of other somatic founder cells. Continued proliferation generates a triploblastic embryo of 300 cells, with an internal cylinder of pharynx and gut primordia, an outer layer of hypodermal and neuronal precursors, and four quadrants of body wall myoblasts. Most of the cell divisions are complete by the time the embryo has reached about 550 cells. During the later half of
embryogenesis, it undergoes morphogenesis, organogenesis and elongation of the body until hatching. Figure 1.9 shows some of the stages of early embyrogenesis which will be referred to in the text.

## 1.4.2 Embryonic polarity

The anterior-posterior polarity in the *C. elegans* zygote is initiated shortly after sperm entry into a previously symmetrical oocyte (Goldstein and Hird, 1996). Based on the position of the sperm pronucleus and associated centrosomes, a polarized cytoplasmic flow occurs within the zygote. Internal cytoplasm flows toward the paternal pronucleus-centrasomal complex whereas cytoplasm near the cortex flows away, resulting in an arrangement where the pronucleus is at one end of the oblong zygote defining this position as the posterior pole (Goldstein and Hird, 1996). The first cleavage produces two daughter cells with different sizes and developmental potentials (Cowan and Macintosh, 1985; Priess and Thomson, 1987. Figure 1.10). Further development results in the dorsal-ventral asymmetry in addition to the anterior-posterior polarity. The microfilament-mediated cytoplasmic flow has been suggested to play an important role in this process (Strome and Wood, 1983; Hill and Strome, 1988; Hird et al., 1996; Golden, 2000).

P granules, which are ribonucleoprotein particles and distributed evenly in the oocyte, become localized to the posterior end of the zygote after fertilization and are partitioned asymmetrically at each of the unequal divisions (Strome and Wood, 1982 and 1983. Figure 1.10). In the embryo, they are associated with the germ-line cell fate during development, and remain associated with the germ lineage throughout the life of the

worm. Because of their asymmetrical distribution, P granules are useful markers of early embryonic polarity.

## 1.4.3 Genes required for embryonic polarity

Genetic screens for early regulators of pattern formation have led to the identification of six par genes (for partitioning-defective), which are required for some aspects of anterior-posterior polarity in the zygote, such as P-granule localization, pseudocleavage, cytoplasmic streaming and asymmetric placement of the first cleavage spindle (Kemphues, et al., 1988; Kemphues, 1989; Kirby et al., 1990). The PAR proteins have been shown to co-localize with actin microfilaments in the cortical regions of the cytoplasm and PAR-1, a serine/threonine kinase, interacts with a non-muscle myosin II heavy chain (NMY-2) which is also present in the cortical region of early embryos (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). This interaction is consistent with the role of NMY-2 in embryonic polarity and cytokinesis (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). Recently, a non-muscle myosin II regulatory light chain (MLC-4) has also been shown to be required for cytokinesis and anterior-posterior polarity (Shelton, et al., 1999). It may be involved in the let-502/mel-11 regulatory pathway (Shelton, et al., 1999). LET-502 (a Rho-dependent kinase) and MEL-11 (a myosin phosphatase), which were originally identified as regulators for the hypodermal microfilament cytoskeleton during embryonic elongation (Wissmann, et al., 1997 and 1999), may also have a role in cytokinesis in early embryos (Piekny and Mains, pers. comm.). The coronin-like protein POD-1(actin-binding protein) has also recently been shown to be required for anterior-posterior axis formation and cellular architecture (Rappleye, et al., 1999). It may play a role in intracellular trafficking and organizing specific aspects of the actin cytoskeleton.

# 1.5 Genetic analysis of unc-45

A huge collection of C. elegans mutant strains was generated using ethyl methanesulphonate by Dr. Sydney Brenner and co-workers in the middle 1960's after he had chosen this little soil nematode as a model system for genetic and developmental analysis (Brenner, 1973 and 1974). unc-45 (e286), which is temperature-sensitive and recessive, is one of the first mutations reported from this collection (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). Wild-type nematodes (N2) are highly motile between 15°C and 25°C. In contrast, when grown at temperature of 20°C or above, homozygous e286 mutant animals are paralyzed with very slow body movements and a smaller brood size. However, if grown at 15°C, the movement and brood size of e286 mutants are indistinguishable from those of wild-type worms (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). Heterozygous worms (+/e286) are normal at either temperature regarding both movement and structure, indicating that one dose of normal UNC-45 is sufficient for its function. There is an interesting observation pertaining to the temperature-sensitive phenotype of this allele. If the homozygous mutants are grown at 15°C in their early stages (before L4), shifting the temperature to 25°C will result in paralyzed adults. Conversely, mutant worms growing at 25°C will lead to normal motile animals if switched to 15°C before the L4 stage (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). Under the polarized light microscope, motile e286 mutant adults raised at 15°C exhibit the typical wild-type muscle structures with distinguishable A-bands, I-bands, H zones and dense bodies, but paralyzed adult worms raised at 25°C do not exhibit these regular muscle structures. Moreover, when examined by electron microscopy, the paralyzed worms have a reduced number of recognizable thick filaments. Moreover, they are disorganized with thin filaments presenting at various

angles to the thick filament arrays, compared with wildtype worms which have parallel thin filament arrays around thick filaments (Epstein and Thomson, 1974. Figure 1.11). Also, it seems that there is no apparent change in the sizes and amounts of some major myofilament proteins in the mutant worms grown at either temperature. These observations have led to the suggestion that the *unc-45* (*e286*) mutation may affect the formation of thick filaments during the period of muscle development. One possible explanation is that UNC-45 has a catalytic function required for proper assembly of thick filaments (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). Other *unc-45* (*ts*) alleles were subsequently isolated from different laboratories (Venolia and Waterston, 1990): m94 (D. L. Riddle), r450 (R. P. Anderson), b131(D. Hirsh) and su2002 (H. E. Epstein). All these alleles show the paralyzed phenotype at 25°C with differing severity.

The isolation of three recessive lethal alleles of unc-45 by a non-complementation screen has demonstrated that unc-45 is an essential gene (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). The two more severe alleles st601 and st603 show identical phenotypes, whereas the st604 allele has a maternal effect. Grown at either 15°C or 20°C, st601 and st603homozygous embryos from an unc-45 (ts)/(st601 or st603) mother show a "Pat" phenotype (**p**aralyzed and **a**rrested at **t**wo-fold stage). These embryos fail to show pharyngeal pumping and hatching is much delayed or blocked, but other aspects of development seem normal at the two-fold stage. st601 and st603 homozygous embryos from an unc-45 (+)/(st601 or st603) mother show a milder phenotype: most can develop until the three-fold stage and slight muscle movements can be seen; some even show pharyngeal pumping and can hatch but arrest at the L1 stage without unfolding (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). st604/st604 embryos from an st604/unc-45 (ts) mother arrest at various embryonic or L1 stages but before any larval molting occurs. In these animals, some body wall muscle contraction can be seen, but the hatched larvae generally fail to unfold. However, st604 homozygotes from an st604/unc-45 (+) mother are viable and fertile, although they show an "*unc*" phenotype, especially at higher temperatures, which is not as severe as unc-45 (ts) mutants at the restrictive temperatures. The progeny of such st604 homozygotes arrest mostly as embryos at the two-fold stage with a few (1-2%) that can survive to adulthood and show a similar phenotype as the maternally rescued animals. The function of this maternally provided unc-45 product in embryogenesis is unclear, but the rescue of st604 (probably not null) and failure to rescue st601 or st603 (probably null) indicate that the maternal product may be necessary for normal early development.

In unc-45 (lf) animals, the expression of unc-54 and myo-3 is normal and the assembly of MHC A and B can even be initiated but no A-bands can be formed (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). There is evidence that UNC-45 may interact with myosin heavy chain isoforms in muscles. Previous genetic analyses show that unc-54 is epistatic to unc-45 (Waterston, et al., 1980; Waterston and Curry, cited in Waterston, 1988). This can be explained if MHC B molecules are abnormal or non-functional in unc-45 animals. The toxic MHC B proteins can not account for the lethality of unc-45 (lf) animals, since the double mutant unc-54 (0); unc-45 (lf) in which MHC B has been removed has the same phenotype as unc-45 (lf) single mutant. UNC-45 must interact with other proteins in addition to MHC B, since the unc-45 (lf) phenotype (lethal) is much more severe than the unc-54 (0) phenotype (paralyzed but viable). The similar "Pat" phenotype of myo-3 (lf) and unc-45 (lf) mutants suggest that MHC A may be another target of UNC-45. In unc45 (lf) allele animals, MHC A molecules may also be in an inactive form as MHC B. This is consistent with the abolition of maternal rescue of st604 when MHC A is overexpressed in a *sup-3* background. A double mutant *unc-54* (0); *myo-3* (0) in which both MHC A and MHC B have been removed has normal pharyngeal pumping function, but pharyngeal pumping is not observed in *unc-45* (lf) animals though MHC A and B are not expressed in the pharynx (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). This indicates that UNC-45 function is required in the pharynx, presumably through its interaction with MHC C and/or D.

#### 1.6 Molecular analysis of unc-45

When I joined this lab in 1995, the *unc-45* gene had been cloned and sequencing had begun. This gene is located on the left end of linkage group III between *vab-6* and *fem-2* (Pilgrim, 1993), and encodes a novel protein of 961 amino acids. This protein contains three tandem tetratricopeptide repeats (TPR) at its amino terminus and a region with similarity to fungal CRO1/She4 proteins in the carboxyl terminal half (Venolia et al., 1999. Figure 1.12). The central region (about 350 amino acids) does not show similarity to any proteins of known functions. TPR are loosely conserved 34-amino acid sequence motifs that have been shown to function as scaffolding structures to mediate protein-protein interactions with apparently divergent cellular functions (Sikorski, et al., 1991; Goebel and Yanagida, 1991; Das, et al., 1998; Blatch and Lassle, 1999). Most TPR-containing proteins are associated with multi-protein complexes and important to the function of chaperone, cell-cycle, transcription and protein transport complexes (Blatch and Lassle, 1999; Melville et al., 2000). A TPR-containing cyclophilin has been shown to be required for larval muscle development in parasitic and free-living nematode

species (Page and Winter, 1998) and another TPR-containing protein (P581PK) has also recently been shown to have co-chaperone and oncogenic properties (Melville, et al., 2000). This suggests that UNC-45 may function as a chaperone involved in myosin assembly in *C. elegans*.

The C-terminal domain of UNC-45 is similar to part of the Podospora CRO1 protein and the S. cerevisiae She4 protein. The CRO1 protein is required for the transition between the syncytial and cellular states of the filamentous fungus P. anserina (Berteaux-Lecellier et al., 1998). The She4 protein is involved in the mating type switching of the budding yeast (Jansen et al., 1996; Wendland et al., 1996). In yeast, an asymmetrical cell growth/division occurs in some cases, such as pseudohyphal growth, mating type response and cell fate determination (Madden and Snyder, 1998). Two mating types exist in yeast: a and  $\alpha$ . In nature, the haploid yeast can switch their mating type: a cells convert to  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha$  cells change to **a**. In this process, mother cells can switch but daughter cells do not. This is due to mother cell-specific expression of the HO protein, which is an endonuclease that initiates gene conversion of the mating type locus (Strathern and Herskowitz, 1979; Nasmyth, 1993). The expression of the HO gene is repressed in the daughter cell by the Ash1 protein (Bobola et al., 1996; Sil and Herskowitz, 1996), which is a zinc finger protein related to GATA transcription factors and has also been shown to be involved in pseudohyphal growth of diploid yeast cells (Chandarlapaty and Errede, 1998). Ash1 mRNA has been shown to be asymmetrically localized in the daughter cell and this localization requires five She genes (Jansen et al., 1996; Takizawa et al., 1997; Long et al., 1997. Figure 1.13). She1 encodes a type V myosin, Myo4p, which has been shown to bind to the 3' UTR of Ash1 mRNA and is required for the transport of this

mRNA into the daughter cell (Munchow et al., 1999; Takizawa and Vale, 2000; Fischer, 2000). She2p and She3p are also involved in this process (Bertrand, et al., 1998; Munchow et al., 1999; Takizawa and Vale, 2000) and it has also been suggested that She4p may be required for the assembly of the transport particle although its specific function is unclear (Bertrand, et al., 1998). Based on the sequence similarity of UNC-45 and She4p, UNC-45 may be involved in thick filament assembly by interactions with one or both myosin heavy chains isoforms in body wall muscles directly or indirectly.

Moreover, sequence analysis of unc-45 mutant alleles has revealed that the CRO1/She4 domain is critical for thick filament assembly (Barral and Epstein, 1998). Three of the four ts mutations sequenced (e286, su2002, and m94=r450) are missense substitutions in codons that encode conserved residues located in the CRO1/She4 domain and the other ts mutation (b131) is also a missense substitution found just upstream of the conserved domain (Figure 1.12). Two lethal alleles (st601 and st603) are found to be amber mutations in the central region and they are predicted to produce truncated proteins lacking the CRO1/She4 domain. Thus, the change of one amino acid in the CRO1/She4 domain can cause an uncoordinated phenotype and the absence of the CRO1/She4 domain is correlated with the lethal phenotype.

# 1.7 Summary of this thesis

As mentioned earlier, this *unc-45* project was started when this gene had been cloned and its protein sequence had been analyzed as above. However, the function of UNC-45 and it's involvement in thick filament assembly was unclear, as was whether UNC-45 is a component of the thick filaments, or a cytoplasmic regulatory factor required for thick filament assembly. To address these questions, I mainly applied the following approaches: the use of reporter genes and Northern analysis to determine the expression of *unc-45*; yeast two-hybrid screens to identify proteins that may interact with UNC-45; immunofluorescence studies to determine UNC-45 subcellular localization; and analysis of UNC-45 sequence homologues in other species. A summary of my major findings follows.

I showed that *unc-45*::GFP reporter fusions are expressed in all muscle cells and a functional UNC-45:GFP fusion is localized to the A-bands of thick filaments in body wall muscles. Immunofluorescence experiments demonstrated that UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B in the thick filaments of wild-type worms and is also associated with the abnormal thick filaments in *unc-45* (*ts*) mutants grown at the restrictive temperature. In *unc-54* null animals, in which MHC B is absent, and in *unc-54*; *sup-3* mutants, in which increased MHC A partially compensates for lack of MHC B, UNC-45 cannot be detected in association with thick filaments. Therefore, I concluded that UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments due to its co-localization with MHC B in the body wall muscles. Furthermore, I showed that UNC-45 may be added to thick filaments after MHC isoforms have been assembled.

The UNC-45 protein is also maternally contributed and is present in all cells of the early embryo. Zygotic UNC-45 expression is only detected in the developing muscle cells. Yeast two-hybrid screens demonstrated that UNC-45 interacts with NMY-2, a non-muscle type II myosin. These two proteins also co-localize at cell boundaries in early embryos. Localization of UNC-45 at these boundaries is dependent on the presence of NMY-2. These results suggest that UNC-45 may interact with more than one type of myosin and have a function in the embryo other than in thick filament assembly and

stability during muscle development. Moreover, UNC-45 may also define a novel class of myosin-associated proteins.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Strains and genetics

N2 (wild-type) and strains carrying unc-45 mutant alleles e286, r450, and m94 were obtained from the stock collection of the MRC Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Cambridge, UK; CB190 [unc-54 (e190)] from the Caenorhabditis Genetics Center, University of Minnesota, USA and double mutant RW2329 [unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] and triple mutant RW2665 [unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] from the laboratory of R. H. Waterston (Washington University, St. Louis, USA). The strains were maintained as described (Wood, 1988).

The yeast strain PJ69-4A (along with the series of expression vectors pGAD-1, -2, -3 and pGBDU-1, -2, -3) for the two-hybrid screen was kindly provided by Dr. Philip James (University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, USA) and maintained as described (James, et al., 1996). All yeast transformations were done using the high efficiency lithium acetate method (Gietz and Schiestl, 1995).

Drosophila strain 11602 [P(ry<sup>+t7.2</sup>=PZ)Tom34<sup>03692</sup>ry506/TM3, ry<sup>RK</sup>5b<sup>1</sup>Ser<sup>1</sup>] was obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila stock center (USA) and this strain was originally generated in Dr. Allen Spradling's laboratory (University of California at Berkeley).

#### 2.2 Northern analysis

Total RNA was prepared from mixed-stage cultures of wild-type animals using TRIzol reagents (GIBCO BRL) and poly A<sup>+</sup> RNA was purified from the total RNA using oligo(dT) cellulose columns (GIBCO BRL) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Northern analysis was performed using 1% agarose gels containing formaldehyde as described (Sambrook et al., 1989). Radiolabelled antisense RNA probes were synthesized using T7 or T3 RNA polymerases as directed by the manufacturer (Promega), using a linearized *unc-45* cDNA clone on a pBluescript vector as a template.

## 2.3 Sequencing of the C. briggsae unc-45 homologue

Using low stringency hybridization, the genomic DNA corresponding to a putative *C. briggsae unc-45* homologue was previously cloned in this lab, and part of one subclone (pDP#Cb004, about 1.8 kbp) had been sequenced. The sequence of the remainder of pCb004 was determined during this thesis, which corresponds to exons 6 to 10 of the *C. elegans unc-45* gene with two introns. Another subclone pDP#Cb002 was also sequenced and it connects with pCb004 within exon 6 and extends to the 5' end of exon 1 of the *C. briggsae unc-45* gene. To finish the whole sequence, two more fragments were subcloned and sequenced: one corresponds to exon 11 and the 3'-untranslated region of the *C. briggsae unc-45* gene.

#### 2.4 Transgenic lines

An approximately 4.4 kbp promoter region upstream of the *unc-45* gene was amplified by PCR from genomic DNA using the primers DPU1 (5' GCGTCTAGAAAAGCTGGCCC 3') and DPU2 (5' CAATACTGCAGAGAGTCACG 3'). The PCR product was digested with *Pst*I, and the resulting 4.4 kbp fragment was cloned into pBluescript KS<sup>-</sup> to yield pDP#WA002. This should contain the upstream region and the first 18 codons of the predicted *unc-45* coding region, as verified by restriction mapping. The 4.4 kbp *Pst*I fragment from pDP#WA002 was subcloned into the promoterless Green Florescent Protein (GFP) vector pPD95.81 (Ahn et al., personal communication) to yield pDP#WA009 (unc-45:GFP), and into the promoterless nuclearlocalization-signal containing (lacZ:SV40NLS) vector pPD95.10 (Fire et al., 1990) to yield pDP#WA004 (unc-45:lacZ:NLS). Both vectors should result in fusion proteins containing the first 18 amino acids of UNC-45.

A "minigene" cDNA version of the unc-45 gene was also amplified by RT-PCR as described below. First-strand cDNA synthesis was primed with WA08 (5' ATCCACGTGGATGAAATATAGCAG 3') from total RNA (mixed stages). A fragment containing the open reading frame was amplified using the primers LV+7 (5' ATGGTTGCTCGAGTACAGAC 3') at the 5' end and WA05 (5' CAACCCGGGTTCCTGAATGGTGCTCATTTG 3') at the 3' end. The 2.9 kbp product was purified, digested by PstI (at the 5' end) and SmaI (introduced at the 3' end by the primer) and then cloned into vector pPD95.79 (Ahn et al., pers. comm.) at these two sites. The 4.4 kbp-PstI fragment containing the unc-45 upstream region (which also contains the sequence of exon 1 before the *PstI* site) from pDP#WA002 was inserted into the *PstI* site of the above construct to make a plasmid pDP#WA036 that should contain the full length unc-45 cDNA and driven by the unc-45 promoter. pDP#WA036 was used to inject unc-45 (r450) mutant animals together with the pRF4 plasmid containing the dominant marker rol-6 (su1006). The mutant worms were grown at 15°C before injection and at 25°C after injection. The resulting transgenic lines were examined for rescue under the dissecting microscope by examining their ability to move. A transgenic line (DP193 edEx74) generated as described (Mello, et al., 1991) contains this construct as part of an extrachromosomal array along with pRF4 (rol6 [su1006dm]). An isolate of this line

showing transmission of the array to more than 95% of the progeny was used in this study.

A 4.9 kbp promoter region of *CeUFD2* was amplified using primers WA32 (5' CTCAGCTGCAGTGATTTGCC 3') at about 4.9 kbp upstream of the start codon and WA33 (5' ACCACTGCAGCATCACTTATGTC 3') at the end of first exon (about 18 amino acids downstream of the start codon). A *PstI* restriction site was introduced on both ends. The amplified PCR product was digested with *PstI* and cloned into the *PstI* site of the GFP vector pPD95.79. The orientation of the construct was confirmed by restriction analysis. This construct was injected into wild-type worms (L4 or young adults) with dominant co-injection marker pRF4 to generate transmitting lines.

The putative *Drosophila unc-45* homologue cDNA was cloned by RT-PCR. The first strand of cDNA was synthesized using primer WA27 (5' CGCGATGACACTGTGAGTAAAGTAAA 3') at the 3' UTR from total RNA (kindly provided by Zhigang Jin and Graham Banting) purified from wild-type *Drosophila* adult females. A segment containing the open reading frame (about 2.9 kbp) was amplified using primer WA28 (5' TAACGTCGACAAACACCATCAACAGC 3') at the 5' end of this homologue and WA29 (5' TTTCCCGGGATCATCGATAATCTCAG 3') at the 3' end. The 2.9 kbp PCR product was purified, digested by *Sal*I (introduced at the 5' end by the primer) and *Sma*I (introduced the 3' end by the primer), and then cloned into the GFP vector pPD95.79 (Ahn, et al., pers. comm.) at these two sites.

Animals transgenic for the lacZ fusions were fixed and stained for  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity as described (Fire et al., 1990). GFP expression was examined under

fluorescence with a Zeiss Axioskop (Carl Zeiss) or a confocal microscope (Molecular Dynamics 2001).

# 2.5 RNA interference

A 1.6 kbp fragment of nmy-2 cDNA, which corresponds to a segment of the NMY-2 protein from amino acids 469 to 999 on the plasmid pACT (Elledge et al., 1991; Durfee et al., 1993) isolated from the yeast two-hybrid screen, was re-cloned into the pBluescript KS<sup>-</sup> vector. A double-stranded linear fragment which contains the 1.6 kbp nmy-2 cDNA and the T7 promoter region at both ends was amplified by PCR using the primers 5' AGCTCGGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAAC 3' and 5' CCAGTGAATTGTAATACGACTCACTAT 3'. Double-stranded RNA was amplified using a MEGAscript T7 in vitro transcription kit (Ambion) as described by the manufactory's guide. After microinjection of the RNA into the gonad of adult hermaphrodites, the same phenotype was observed in the progeny as previously described (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). To generate RNA interference (RNAi) worms for immunostaining, a soaking method (Tabara, et al., 1998) was used. Briefly, 1 µl of Lipofectin (Gibco-BRL) and 4 µl of dsRNA prepared as above were mixed and incubated at room temperature for 15-30 min in the bottom of a 1.5 ml microfuge tube. 15-20 L4-stage hermaphrodites were picked from agar plates and added to the RNA-lipsome mixture. The tube was capped and incubated for 10-24 hours at room temperature. After incubation, the worms were transferred to an agar plate with E. coli (OP50) and grown up to mid-adulthood for immuno-staining of their embryos.

#### 2. 6 Yeast two-hybrid screen

The full length *unc-45* cDNA was amplified from pDP#WA036 which contains the *unc-45* "mini gene" (Venolia et al., 1999) by PCR using primer WA06 (5' TTTCCCGGGATGGTTGCTCGAGTACAGACT 3', at the 5' end of *unc-45* ) and WA05 (5' CAACCCGGGTTCCTGAATGGTGCTCATTTG 3', at the 3' end of *unc-45*). The PCR product was digested at the *Sma*I site that was introduced by PCR at both ends and cloned into the *Sma*I site of the yeast two-hybrid expression vector pGBDU-C1 which contains a uracil selection marker (James et al., 1996), resulting in plasmid pDP#WA039. This expression plasmid was used as a bait to screen a *C. elegans* cDNA expression library ( $\lambda$ ACT-RB1) generated from mixed stages of wild-type worms (kindly provided by Dr. Robert Barstead, Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation, Oklahoma City, OK, USA). This library represents 10<sup>7</sup> independent clones and the vector  $\lambda$ ACT contains a leucine selection marker (Elledge, et al., 1991).

Plasmid pDP#WA039 was transformed into the yeast strain PJ69-4A and maintained on synthetic complete (SC) media minus uracil as described (James. et al., 1996). To screen the library, 2  $\mu$ g of cDNA was used to transform PJ69-4A containing plasmid pDP#WA039 using a high efficiency method (Gietz and Schiestl, 1995) and positive transformants were identified from the strictest selective media (SC without uracil, leucine, histidine and adenine) as described (James, et al., 1996). Uracil and leucine markers were used to select the bait plasmid and the prey plasmid, respectively. Histidine and adenine reporter genes, which are driven by the *GAL1* and *GAL2* promoters, respectively, were used to select for clones which show the interaction between the bait and the prey. The interactions of the positive clones with the UNC-45

bait were confirmed by a third reporter gene, LacZ, which is driven by the *GAL7* promoter (James, et al., 1996), since those clones were blue in the presence of X-gal which indicates expression of  $\beta$ -galactosidase. About 10<sup>6</sup> transformants (estimated from the efficiency of transformation selected from the media of SC lacking uracil and leucine) were screened and three strong positive clones were identified in the screen. Their interactions in the yeast assays were initially tested by re-purifying the positive plasmid DNAs and re-transforming them into the yeast. As a control, the bait plasmid pSE1112 (Durfee, et al., 1993), which encodes the SNF1 fusion protein, was tested. SNF1 did interact with SNF4 protein in the yeast assays as expected, but did not interact with those positives isolated in this screen judged by lack of growth on appropriate selective media. After sequencing the cDNA fragments and re-cloning into pGAD vectors, their interactions with UNC-45 were further tested in the yeast assays. The three isolated positive cDNAs are a 1. 6 kbp fragment of *nmy-2*, a 420 bp fragment of *hum-2* and a 2.9 kbp fragment of *CeUFD2*, respectively.

To further test the interactions of different domains of UNC-45 with these positive clones, two more *unc-45* subclones were constructed as below. A 2.6 kbp partial *unc-45* cDNA fragment was amplified by PCR from pDP#WA039 using primer WA05 (5' CAACCCGGGTTCCTGAATGGTGCTCATTTG 3') at the 3' end of *unc-45* and WA07 (5' GAT CCCGGGATTGTTGAAGTTCTTCAG 3') at the 5' end of *unc-45* exon 4, and cloned into vector pGBDU-C1, resulting in plasmid pDP#WA040 which encodes a truncated UNC-45 protein lacking the TPR domain (the first 112 amino acids at the N-terminus). The plasmid pDP#WA061 was generated by cutting pDP#WA039 with *Nhe*I which recognizes a site about 441 bp downstream of the start codon and *Bgl*II at the 3'

end, removing a 2.5 kbp cDNA fragment, filled in with Klenow enzyme and ligated again. This construct encodes only the TPR domain (the first 127 amino acids of UNC-45 at the N-terminus). These two baits were transformed into yeast and their interactions with the positive clones were further tested.

#### 2.7 Motility Assay

The N2 [wild-type], unc-45 (m94), double mutant RW2329 [unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] and triple mutant RW2665 [unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] strains were grown at 25°C. Five young adult worms of each strain were put in the center of five plates which were completely seeded with a lawn of *E. coli* (OP50). The worms were allowed to crawl for 1 hour at 25°C and the traces were marked with a pen and photographed. All five worms of the same strain showed similar motility.

# 2.8 Antibody production

A fragment of the *unc-45* cDNA, which corresponds to a 58-residue region from amino acid 18 to 76 of the predicted UNC-45 protein, was fused in frame to the glutathione S-transferase coding region in the expression vector pGEX-2T (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). This glutathione S-transferase::UNC-45 fusion was expressed in *E. coli* strain BL21 (DE3) under standard conditions and purified on glutathione agarose (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) as described (Smith and Johnson, 1988). Rabbit antiserum (7N5) to this fusion protein was raised and purified as described (Ausubel, et al., 1991). The preimmune serum did not detect the putative UNC-45 protein on Western blots and did not show any significant staining in immunofluorescence. The purification of antiserum and Western blots was performed by Heather Lemon and Shawna Maguire, technicians in this laboratory.

#### 2.9 Microscopy

Polarized light microscopy was performed as described (Waterston et al., 1980; Hobert et al., 1999). For immunofluorescence, embryos from either wild-type or nmy-2RNAi-treated hermaphrodites and young larvae were fixed as described (Miller and Shakes, 1995) using the methanol/acetone fixation method and air-dried after fixation. The fixed embryos were incubated in diluted primary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by three 5 minutes washes in PBS buffer (150 mM NaCl, 10 mM sodium PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.2). The primary antibodies were detected using either fuorescein or rhodamine conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibodies. For whole-mount fixation of older larvae and adults, the method used was originally developed by Finney and Ruvkun (1990) and modified for the study of muscle as described (Miller and Shakes, 1995). Briefly, the worms were fixed in an eppendorf tube with in 1X Ruvkun buffer (160 mM KCl, 40 mM NaCl, 20 mM Na, EGTA, 10 mM spermidine-HCl, 30 mM Pipes, pH 7.4, and 50% methanol) and 1-4% formaldehyde (made freshly from dry paraformaldehyde, J. T. Baker Inc.) with 30 minutes to overnight incubation on ice, followed by 15 minutes treatment with 1X BO<sub>3</sub> buffer (50 mM H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, 25 mM NaOH), 10 mM DTT in 1X BO<sub>3</sub> buffer and 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in 1X BO<sub>3</sub> buffer, respectively. The fixed worms were stained as described above. To stain the gonads of hermaphrodites, the worms were placed on a slide in M9 buffer and cut beneath the pharynx to release the intact gonads from the worm bodies. The released gonads were stained using the same protocol as embryos.

Monoclonal antibodies against MHC isoforms (kindly provided by Dr. David Miller) were used at 1:100 dilution for DM 5-6 growth media and 1:1,000 dilution for DM 5-8 ascites, respectively and MH27 (provided by Dr. Joel Rothman, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA, USA, but originally from the Waterston lab, University of Washington, St. Louis, MI, USA), which stains the boundaries of hypodermal cells (Francis and Waterston, 1985), was used at 1:1000 dilution. Affinity-purified polyclonal antibody against NMY-2 (a gift from Dr. Ken Kemphues, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA) was used at 1:200 dilution and antibody 7N5 against UNC-45 described above was used at 1:500-1:1,000 dilution. The secondary antisera (Sigma) used were FITC-labeled anti-rabbit (at 1:1,000 dilution) or TRITC-labeled anti-mouse (at 1:1,000 dilution) immunoglobulins. DAPI (diamidophenylindole) was used at 1 $\mu$ g/ml in the mounting media. The immunofluorescence images were taken using a Zeiss Axioskop (Carl Zeiss) or a confocal microscope (Molecular Dynamics 2001) and processed using Adobe Photoshop 5.0.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1 unc-45 is a muscle-specific gene.

3.1.1 unc-45 reporter genes are expressed specifically in muscles.

To determine whether the *unc-45* gene is expressed in muscle cells, as expected from the mutant phenotype, a 4.4 kbp fragment containing the presumed promoter region and the first 18 amino acids of exon 1 of the *unc-45* gene was fused in-frame to both the *E. coli lacZ* gene (Fire et al., 1990) and the *Aequorea victoria* GFP gene (Chalfie et al., 1994). Transgenic animals containing these constructs were examined for enzymatic activity (*lacZ* fusion) or fluorescence (GFP fusion). The results from both fusions are consistent. In the adult, the reporter genes are detectable in the body wall muscle cells, in the pharyngeal muscle cells, in the sex-specific muscle cells (e.g., vulval muscles in hermaphrodites and diagonal muscles of the male tail) and in the anal muscles (Figure 3.1). Expression is also found in the embryos at the comma stage to two-fold stage, when muscle lattices are being assembled (Figure 3.2).  $\beta$ -galactosidase staining from the lacZ fusion is detected in muscle cells and early embryos (Figure 3.3). This expression pattern indicates that UNC-45 may be expressed in all muscle cells early in their development and continue through adult life, and sequences sufficient for muscle-specific expression lie in the upstream 4.4 kbp.

#### 3.1.2 Functional UNC-45::GFP is expressed in all muscle cell types.

The GFP transgenic arrays examined above were unstable as they existed as extra-chromosomal elements. Only a fraction of the progeny inherited the arrays and only a fraction of the muscle cells in any transgenic animal expressed the GFP reporter. In addition, subcellular localization of the fusion protein which contains only a small fragment of UNC-45 would not be informative for the native protein. Following UV treatment which increases the recombination frequency and can integrate extrachromosomal genes into chromosomes, a stable transgenic *unc-45* cDNA::GFP line was obtained, in which GFP is fused in frame to the entire UNC-45 coding region. More than 95% of the progeny inherit the array, and the array is mitotically stable. This *unc-45* cDNA::GFP construct can rescue the *unc-45* (*ts*) mutant phenotype at the restrictive temperature of  $25^{\circ}$ C assayed by both improved motility and muscle structure (Figure 3.4 and 3.5), indicating that the fusion protein retains UNC-45 function. In this transgenic line, GFP expression is detected in all muscle cells examined, including body wall muscle cells, pharyngeal muscle cells, anal-intestinal muscle cells, gonad sheath muscle cells, and sex-specific muscle cells in both males and hermaphrodites (Table 3.1). This supports a general role of UNC-45 in development and function of all muscles.

3.1.3 UNC-45 protein is detected in the germline cells of the gonad and premorphogenesis embryos

Although genetic evidence suggests that *unc-45* mRNA or protein is contributed maternally (Venolia and Waterston, 1990), transgenic arrays are generally silent in the germline (Kelly et al., 1997) and any maternal germline expression would not have been detected by the reporter fusions as described in the previous section. Using immunofluorescence, UNC-45 is present in germline cells (Figure 3.6) including mature oocytes (data not shown), as well as pre-morphogenesis embryos (Figure 3.7). Furthermore, *in situ* hybridization has shown that *unc-45* mRNA is also enriched in the gonad of adult worms as well as embryos (Figure 3.8, Dr. Y. Kohara, database at http://watson.genes.nig.ac.jp/db/, EST yk44f2). These results indicate that the maternal

effect of *unc-45* is consistent with the presence of the UNC-45 protein or mRNA in the oocytes.

# 3.1.4 UNC-45 begins to be enriched in the muscle cells at about the 420-cell stage

UNC-45 staining is generally detectable throughout the pre-morphogenesis embryos, rather than being restricted to myogenic lineages (Figure 3.7). However, *unc-45* reporter genes (expressed from extra-chromosomal transgenic arrays) are expressed only in muscles (Figure 3.2), and UNC-45 immunostaining is only detectable (besides the germline staining described above) in the somatic muscle cells in the adult. Therefore, there must be a transition in expression pattern. In examining older embryos, we found that UNC-45 begins to be enriched in the muscle cells at about 300 min after fertilization (Figure 3.9). At 270 min, UNC-45 is evenly distributed in all cells; but at 300 min (about 420 cells), UNC-45 is more concentrated in muscle cells (the two lateral bands of muscle cells can be easily distinguished). At 320 to 350 min, UNC-45 is mainly detectable in muscle cells. Other muscle structural proteins are first detectable at about this time (Epstein et al., 1993; Hresko et al., 1994; Moerman and Fire, 1997). This is consistent with a zygotic function for *unc-45* in muscle development.

3.1.5 Zygotic UNC-45 is only expressed in muscles whereas maternal UNC-45 is only present in the early embryos

Many *C. elegans* genes show poor maternal expression when present on extrachromosomal transgenic arrays, since they exist as repetitive sequences on which genes are transcriptionally repressed in germ cells (Seydoux, et al., 1996; Kelly et al., 1997). Thus, reporter genes on an extra-chromosomal transgenic array may only indicate the zygotic expression of the gene. Figure 3.2 shows the expression of an extra-chromosomal transgenic UNC-45::GFP fusion at the 420-cell stage and two-fold stage of embryogenesis. Expression mirrors the detection of other muscle-specific proteins (Epstein et al., 1993; Hresko et al., 1994; Moerman and Fire, 1997). Moreover, the expression of UNC-45 is co-localized with MHC B in muscle cells (Figure 3.10).

Taking these results together, maternal UNC-45 protein persists in all cells of the embryo up until gastrulation, at which time it fades. At the same time, zygotic UNC-45 is synthesized in a muscle specific manner.

#### 3.1.6 Northern analysis indicates that unc-45 gene has only one major product.

The sequence of the genomic unc-45 gene predicts a messenger RNA of approximately 3.5 kb. Northern analysis was used to confirm this. When total mRNA from wild type worms was probed with antisense RNA generated from an unc-45 cDNA, a ~3.5 kb band was detected. However, since it was almost the same size as the larger ribosomal band (26S: about 3.5 kb) it was formally possible that the band was artifactual, representing non-specific hybridization of the probe to an abundant transcript. To distinguish the unc-45 transcript from the ribosomal RNA, poly A<sup>+</sup> enriched RNA and poly A<sup>+</sup> depleted RNA along with total RNA were examined. The same amount (2 µg) of the enriched poly A<sup>+</sup>, the enriched rRNA and total RNA were used in the blot, but the intensity of the band from the enriched poly A<sup>+</sup> is stronger than the other two (Figure 3.11, lane b). This indicates that the 3.5 kb message RNA is the major transcript of the unc-45 gene, as expected. As a control, the *act-1* gene was also examined and the 2.0 kb *act-1* mRNA was detected in all samples (Figure 3.11, lane d).

These data are consistent with the results of 5' RACE and the sequences of the cDNA clones. As well, the *unc-45* cDNA fused to the genomic upstream region also

rescues the "unc" phenotype of *unc-45* mutants. Together, these results indicate that the 3.5 kb mRNA is the predominant transcript of the *unc-45* gene, at least in mixed stage cultures.

# 3.1.7 unc-45 C. briggsae homologue can functionally rescue unc-45 (ts) mutants.

For the identification of putative functional domains of the protein, likely to be conserved through evolution, a genomic DNA fragment from the related species *C. briggsae* was cloned and sequenced. In previously identified *C. briggsae* homologues of *C. elegans* genes, sequence identities range from 44 to 100% (de Bono and Hodgkin, 1996), and have allowed the prediction of structure-function relationships. A strongly hybridizing 1.8 kbp *XbaI* fragment of *C. briggsae* genomic DNA from a cosmid library was sequenced and showed significant identity to the central portion of the *C. elegans unc-45* coding region. Two more *XbaI* fragments flanking this were also sequenced. When conceptually spliced and translated, these three fragments were found to account for a predicted *C. briggsae* protein similar to the entire *C. elegans unc-45* coding region, as well as 150 bp of putative upstream region.

The C. briggsae unc-45 homologue covers only 3.1 kbp of genomic DNA, compared to nearly 12 kbp in C. elegans (Figure 3.12). The major difference between the two is in the size of the introns. C. briggsae unc-45 contains five introns, all with 56 bp or less, compared to 10 in C. elegans. In contrast to the difference in the genomic organization, the predicted C. briggsae UNC-45 protein sequence is very similar to the C. elegans sequence (Figure 3.13). The two proteins are 88% identical over their entire length, similar to what has been seen for other C. briggsae and C. elegans homologues (de Bono and Hodgkin, 1996). The three TPR domains in the C. briggsae homologue are

95% identical to those in *C. elegans*. Moreover, the *C. briggsae* gene is able to restore partial movement to *unc-45(r450)* mutants at both 20°C and 25°C, and significantly increase the viability at 25°C when present as a transgene (Venolia, et al, 1999). This confirms that the conservation seen at the sequence level is a reflection of functional conservation as well.

### 3.1.8 Putative Drosophila unc-45 homologue.

A search of the Drosophila genomic DNA sequence database using the carboxylterminal half of UNC-45 sequence was done, and a putative Drosophila unc-45 homologue (Dm-unc-45) has recently been found (D. Pilgrim, pers. comm.). Although similar TPR repeats are found in many proteins, the predicted *Drosophila* gene product also has a domain similar to the CRO1 and She4 proteins, but most significantly, shows similarity to UNC-45 between these sequence motifs as well. The Dm-unc-45 gene has only one intron (59 bp) and its predicted protein shows 32% identity and 51% similarity to the C. elegans UNC-45 protein (Figure 3.14). The sizes of these two proteins are also similar (C. elegans UNC-45 is 961 amino acids in length and Drosophila UNC-45 is 948 amino acids), suggesting that they may have the same cellular function. Three of the missense mutations found in unc-45 (ts) alleles are residues conserved between C. elegans and Drosophila. A Drosophila strain with a P element insertion mutation at the 5' end of the Dm-unc-45 gene (within 500 bp of the initiation ATG) has been obtained from the Drosophila stock center. This insertion strain is homozygous lethal, but the terminal phenotype has not been reported. Using RT-PCR, the entire cDNA of Dm-unc-45 has been cloned and fused to a GFP vector. Whether this Dm-unc-45 cDNA could

functionally complement C. elegans unc-45 mutants is currently being tested by another graduate in this lab.

## 3.1.9 Putative human unc-45 homologue.

A BLAST search of the human genomic sequences suggests that there is a human unc-45 homologue as well (D. Pilgrim, pers. comm.). Sequences that match the TPR, CRO1/She4 and linking region of UNC-45 exist on linked contigs at 15q26.1 (Figure 3.15). However, further analysis of this putative homologue must await the completion of the genomic sequence in this region by the sequencing consortium.

# 3.2. UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments and co-localizes with myosin heavy chain B, but not myosin heavy chain A.

## 3.2.1 Functional UNC-45::GFP is localized to the A-bands of body wall muscles.

It has been suggested that UNC-45 protein may be involved in muscle thick filament assembly (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). UNC-45 could act catalytically in the cytoplasm to modify the thick filament components for assembly, or it could act as a component of the thick filament itself. To distinguish between these alternatives, we examined the expression pattern of this functional UNC-45::GFP in the body wall muscle cells in adult worms. The GFP expression pattern resembles the pattern of A-bands of thick filaments (Figure 3.5 A). To confirm this, the same field was examined under polarized light microscopy and an identical pattern was seen (Figure 3.5 B). This indicates that functional UNC-45::GFP is associated with thick filaments in body wall muscles.

3.2.2 UNC-45 is localized to the polar regions of thick filaments as MHC B in the body wall muscles of wild-type worms.

Since the functional UNC-45 ::GFP fusion protein is localized to the A-bands of body wall muscles, we examined these cells in wild-type adult worms by immunofluorescence. In body wall muscles, there are two myosin isoforms, MHC A and B. MHC A is localized in the central part of thick filaments while MHC B is present in the two polar regions (Miller et al, 1983). Double-staining with 7N5 and either anti-MHC B antibody or anti-MHC A antibodies showed that UNC-45 expression pattern overlaps the MHC B expression pattern, leaving an un-stained central gap (Figure 3.10 C), whereas MHC A expression is localized in the central part of the A-bands and overlaps only slightly bilaterally with UNC-45 (Figure 3.10 F). Figure 3.10 I shows the MHC A and B double-staining pattern which is similar to that of UNC-45 and MHC A double-staining. This indicates that UNC-45 may co-localize with MHC B, but not MHC A, in the body wall muscles. Figure 3.16 is a schematic diagram of muscle thick filaments.

3.2.3 Mutant UNC-45 is still associated with thick filaments in unc-45 (ts) mutant worms grown at the restrictive temperature.

unc-45 (ts) mutants grown at the restrictive temperature (20°C or above) are paralyzed, and show a reduced number of thick filaments which are present in a disorganized arrangement (Epstein and Thomson, 1974). To test if mutant UNC-45 protein is still associated with thick filaments in the unc-45 (ts) mutants grown under restrictive conditions, we examined worms doubly stained with UNC-45 and MHC A or MHC B antisera. We chose the conditional mutants unc-45 (r450) and unc-45 (e286) which are both missense alleles resulting in different amino acid substitutions in the CRO1/She4 domain (Barral et al., 1998) and should therefore still react with the polyclonal antisera. For the worms grown at both  $22^{\circ}$ C and  $25^{\circ}$ C, the mutant UNC-45 protein is still associated with the disorganized thick filaments. The UNC-45 staining pattern (Figure 3.17 A) is similar to the MHC A staining pattern (Figure 3.17 B) as well as the MHC B staining pattern (data not shown). These results suggest that the association of UNC-45 with the thick filaments may not be affected in these mutants, but that this assembly or association is not sufficient to provide wild-type UNC-45 activity. In this case, it cannot be determined whether UNC-45 still differentially localizes with MHC B or MHC A, since the two myosins are no longer differentially localized on thick filaments in the *unc-45* (*ts*) mutant worms grown at the restrictive temperature (Barral et al, 1998).

3.2.4 UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments in unc-54 null mutants in which MHC B is absent.

If UNC-45 co-localizes only with MHC B, but not MHC A, in thick filaments in wildtype worms, it is expected that UNC-45 will not be localized to thick filaments in mutants homozygous for the *unc-54* null allele in which MHC B protein is absent. *unc-54 (e190)* is a null mutant which produces viable but paralyzed adults with disorganized thick filaments in which no MHC B is detectable (Epstein, et al., 1974; Dibb, et al. 1985; Bejsovec and Anderson, 1988). Immuno-fluorescence shows that UNC-45 is indeed not localized to these disorganized thick filaments (Figure 3.17 C) while MHC A is still present (Figure 3.17 D). Therefore, we conclude that UNC-45 does not associate with MHC A in the body wall muscles of worms lacking MHC B.

3.2.5 UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments in unc-54 (0); sup-3 mutants in which MHC B is absent, but the amount of MHC A is increased.

sup-3 is an unusual allele of myo-3 (encoding MHC A) which is a strong suppressor of unc-54 null alleles, as well as unc-15 missense alleles (Riddle and Brenner, 1978; Waterston, 1988; Maruyama, et al., 1989). The double mutant RW2329 [unc-54] (e190);sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] has improved structure of muscle thick filaments and much better movement than unc-54 (e190) (Waterston, 1988). This improvement is due to the increased expression of MHC A encoded by the myo-3/sup-3 locus (Maruyama, et al., 1989). To determine if UNC-45 activity is still required in this sup-3 background, the motility of animals from strains RW2329 [unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] and RW2665 [unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] was assayed at the restrictive temperature (25°C). As shown in Figure 3.4, there is no apparent difference between the motility of the double and triple mutants as judged by the distances they crawled for 1 hour at 25°C. This indicates that full UNC-45 activity is not required in an unc-54; sup-3 background for assembly of functional thick filaments. In addition, immuno-fluorescence also shows that UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments in these mutants (Figure 3.17, E and G). MHC A is still present in thick filaments (Figure 3.17, F and H) which have much better organization than those seen in the unc-54 (e190) null allele. These results suggest that the assembly of thick filaments containing only MHC A is UNC-45-independent, at least in adult animals.

#### 3.2.6 UNC-45 may be added to thick filaments after MHC isoforms are assembled.

The specific mechanism by which *C. elegans* muscle thick filaments are assembled remains unclear. In the nematode, it has been proposed that body wall muscle thick filaments are composed of a core structure and an outer layer (Epstein et al, 1985 and 1988; Deitiker and Epstein, 1993). The core structure contains paramyosin as its major

protein and at least three other proteins,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ -filagenins (Deitiker and Epstein, 1993; Epstein et al, 1995; Liu et al, 1998). The outer layer is composed of two differentially localized myosin isoforms, MHC A and B, and associated myosin light chains in body wall muscles. MHC A and B may be involved in the initiation and termination of the assembly, respectively, suggested by their differential localization on thick filament in the wild-type worms (Miller, et al., 1983). In early larval stages, we have observed that MHC B has been assembled into the thick filaments near the cell membrane along the face of the muscle cell that is adjacent to the hypodermis while UNC-45 is still mainly diffuse in the cytoplasm (Figure 3.18). This indicates that UNC-45 may be added to thick filaments after the assembly of MHC A and B. While the stoichiometry of UNC-45 and MHC B in these cells at this stage can not be accurately measured, this temporal difference in localization to the thick filament suggests that while UNC-45 is a thick filament component in adult muscles, it does not form a scaffold in the embryo upon which MHC A and B are assembled.

# 3.3 UNC-45 interacts with myosins in yeast two-hybrid assays.

#### 3.3.1 Yeast two-hybrid screens

To search for proteins that may interact with UNC-45 *in vivo*, a yeast two-hybrid screen was performed. An *unc-45* full length cDNA clone (pDP#WA039) was used as a bait to screen a *C. elegans* cDNA expression library using the yeast two-hybrid method (Fields and Sternglanz, 1994; Phizicky and Fields, 1995; Gietz and Schiestl, 1995; James et al., 1996). In the screens, three strong and one weak positive clones were identified (Figure 3. 19). The weak positive clone was not further characterized. Of the three strong positives, two encode myosin proteins: one is a 1.6 kbp cDNA fragment of a non-muscle

class II gene (*nmy-2*) (Guo and Kemphues, 1996) and the other one is a 420 bp fragment of *hum-2*, an unconventional class V myosin (Baker and Titus, 1997). The third is a 2.9 kbp cDNA of a gene (T05H10.5) which encodes a predicted protein with significant similarity to the yeast UFD2 protein and will be discussed in next section.

The fragment of *hum-2* corresponds to amino acids 540 to 680 in the head domain of HUM-2, which is located about 20 amino acids upstream of the actin binding site and downstream of the ATP binding site (Figure 3.20). The identified NMY-2 fragment also contains that portion. Although the function of HUM-2 has not yet been characterized, these observations do suggest that this small portion of myosin may represent a conserved binding site for UNC-45. This information will be useful in the future for mapping possible UNC-45 binding sites in myosin.

## 3.3.2 UNC-45 interacts with a non-muscle myosin

As mentioned earlier, UNC-45 also interacts with the non-muscle myosin, NMY-2, in the yeast assays. A 530 amino acid fragment of the NMY-2 head domain (amino acid 469 to 999) is sufficient for that interaction, but both the TPR domain and the CRO1/She4p similarity domain of UNC-45 are required for that interaction. NMY-2 was initially identified as a non-muscle myosin II heavy chain that interacts with the Cterminus of PAR-1, a putative kinase that is necessary for embryonic polarity (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). NMY-2 is present in the oocytes and the germline cells of the gonad and is necessary for normal asymmetric cell divisions in early embryos (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). Furthermore, it has also been shown that the NMY-2 protein is localized at the embryonic cleavage furrow and required for polarized cytoplasmic flow at cytokinesis (Shelton et al., 1999). 3.3.3 UNC-45 co-localizes with NMY-2 at the cell boundaries of the early embryo

Both NMY-2 and maternal UNC-45 proteins are present in the oocyte. The staining patterns of both UNC-45 and NMY-2 show concentration at the cortex of the cell in early embryos (Figure 3.7; Schumacher, et al., 1998; Shelton et al., 1999). Embryos labeled with both NMY-2 and UNC-45 antibodies were examined by confocal microscopy. Figure 3.21 shows reconstructed 3-dimensional images of 2-cell, 4-cell and >8-cell stages of wild-type embryos, demonstrating that both NMY-2 and UNC-45 are indeed concentrated at the cell cortex (first and second columns), and the staining patterns are coincident (third column). In addition, the UNC-45 concentration at the cortex is disrupted if NMY-2 is removed by RNA interference (fourth column), indicating that the localization of UNC-45 at the cleavage furrow is dependent on NMY-2. Thus, UNC-45 is similar to PAR proteins in having an embryonic asymmetric localization that is NMY-2 dependent.

I also attempted to deplete UNC-45 by RNA interference and examine the staining pattern of NMY-2. Although *unc-45* RNAi into wild-type worms did result in a "Pat" phenotype, maternal UNC-45 could not be removed completely as judged by immunofluorescence. In these RNAi embryos, both UNC-45 and NMY-2 were still localized at the cell boundaries (data not shown).

# 3.4 Preliminary characterization of CeUFD2, a homologue of yeast ubiquitin fusion degradation protein-2 (UFD2)

## 3.4.1 CeUFD2 interacts with the TPR domain of UNC-45 in the yeast two-hybrid system.

As mentioned earlier, another positive clone identified in the yeast two-hybrid assays is the cDNA from the *C. elegans* T05H10.5 gene, which is predicted to encode a homologue of yeast UFD2 (ubiquitin fusion degradation protein-2). CeUFD2 contains 6 exons encoding a protein of 980 amino acids. If most of the C-terminal part of UNC-45 is removed and only the TPR domain at the N-terminal is tested, these two proteins still interact with each other in the yeast two-hybrid assays, indicating that the N-terminal TPR domain of UNC-45 is sufficient for that interaction (Figure 3.22).

## 3.4.2 CeUFD2::GFP fusion is expressed in nerve cells and the intestine, but not muscles.

The *CeUFD2* gene has not yet been characterized. If CeUFD2 interacts with UNC-45 in *C. elegans*, its expression pattern should overlap with at least part of UNC-45. To test this, the upstream region (~4.9 kbp) of CeUFD2 was cloned into the vector pPD95.79 and fused to the GFP coding region. Transgenic worms containing extrachromosomal arrays of this construct showed GFP expression in some nerve cells, the ventral cord and the intestine (Figure 3.23 and 3.24) but not muscle cells. This indicates that the interaction of UNC-45 and CeUFD2 may not be biologically relevant.

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 UNC-45 has distinct maternal and zygotic expression.

The evidence that UNC-45 or its mRNA is contributed maternally was previously indirect, as the lethal alleles of unc-45 show maternal effects (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). All reported phenotypes of unc-45 mutants could be rescued by zygotic expression of the gene, although the precise nature of the defect that leads to the lethality has not been adequately explained (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Although UNC-45 localizes to thick filaments in an MHC B dependent fashion, and the need for wild type UNC-45 activity is eliminated if MHC B protein is removed by mutation and MHC A expression is increased, UNC-45 must have other roles in development, as the lethal phenotype of the strongest unc-45 alleles is still stronger than the phenotype of MHC B (unc-54) null alleles (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Since unc-45 reporter gene expression is detected in all types of muscle, the lethal phenotype may derive from defects outside the body wall muscles, possibly in the pharynx (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Reporter transgenes in C. elegans are poorly expressed in the germline (Seydoux et al., 1996; Seydoux and Dunn, 1997; Kelly et al., 1997), and any germline expression or maternal contribution of unc-45 product would have been overlooked by this technique. In situ hybridization to whole animals using unc-45 cDNA as a probe suggests that unc-45 transcripts are widespread in the early embryo as well as being strongly expressed in the adult hermaphrodite germline (Figure 3.8), but since components of the body wall muscle and pharynx are normally zygotically transcribed, the implications of this finding were unclear.

Not only is *unc-45* mRNA maternally contributed, but using antisera we show that the protein is provided maternally as well. The GFP reporter transgenes likely represent only the zygotic, and not maternal, expression of *unc-45* (Seydoux et al., 1996; Seydoux and Dunn, 1997; Kelly et al., 1997), while the antisera detect both maternal and zygotic UNC-45. The simplest explanation for the pattern that we see is that maternal UNC-45 is segregated to all cells in the embryo, and persists until the early comma stage, at which point zygotic UNC-45 is synthesized only in muscle cells. The ubiquitous maternal UNC-45 is then degraded. In this way zygotic UNC-45 synthesis mirrors the pattern of other muscle thick filament components (Moerman and Fire, 1997).

#### 4.2 UNC-45 is a component of muscle thick filaments.

Our results show that UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B in the two polar regions of the thick filament in adult body wall muscles. In *unc-45 (ts)* mutant animals grown at the restrictive temperature, UNC-45 staining is still associated with disorganized thick filaments. However, this localization to thick filament remnants is lost in *unc-54* null mutants, suggesting that UNC-45 localization is dependent on the presence of MHC B. Based on these results, we propose that UNC-45 is a component of thick filaments and that UNC-45 is associated with MHC B in the outer layer of thick filaments in wild-type worms. Immunoblotting experiments demonstrated that the accumulation of MHC B, but not MHC A, is decreased in *unc-45 (ts)* mutant worms grown at the restrictive temperature (Barral et al., 1998). This indicates that the accumulation of MHC B, but not MHC A, requires wild-type UNC-45 activity. The overlap of UNC-45 immunolocalization with MHC B, but not MHC A, in the thick filaments is consistent with this.
### 4.3 Is the assembly of MHC A independent of UNC-45?

Several lines of evidence suggest that the stable incorporation of MHC A into thick filaments appears to be independent of UNC-45. First, MHC A is localized in the central part of the thick filament, where polarized myosin assembly is thought to initiate (Waterston, 1989) and embryos homozygous for unc-45 lethal alleles begin MHC A assembly into thick filaments (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Second, unlike MHC B, the steady-state accumulation of MHC A in adult muscle is not dependent on UNC-45 (Barral et al., 1998). Third, unc-45 (ts); sup-3 mutants show muscle structure that is no better than in unc-45 (ts) mutants, but much worse structure than in unc-54 (0);unc-45(ts);sup-3 mutants, indicating that MHC B, but not MHC A, is deleterious in an unc-45 background (Waterston, 1988). Moreover, our immuno-fluorescence studies have shown that UNC-45 does not co-localize with MHC A either in wild-type worms, or in the sup-3 background where MHC A is the only myosin in the body wall muscle thick filaments.

However, there is also genetic evidence that UNC-45 may have some role in MHC A assembly or stability earlier in the embryo. Indirectly, unc-45 lethal alleles (st601 and st603) and an MHC A null mutant allele  $[myo-3 \ (st378)]$  have a similar embryonic lethal phenotype but unc-54 null alleles are viable (Dibb et al. 1985; Waterston, 1989; Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Also, increasing the level of MHC A (as in some sup-3 alleles) can antagonize the maternal rescue seen in some of the unc-45 lethal alleles (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). It is possible that UNC-45 may interact with MHC A for the initiation of thick filament assembly, but this interaction may only

be required at an early stage in development and the *unc-45* (*ts*) alleles still maintain sufficient UNC-45 activity for that interaction.

#### 4.4 A model for UNC-45 function in muscles.

At least one of the roles of UNC-45 seems to be to ensure the stability of MHC B in the thick filament of the adult worm. Since MHC B is the major myosin in the nematode and it covers most of the thick filament of body wall muscles (except a narrow central region which is occupied by MHC A (Miller et al., 1983)), the assembly and stability of MHC B would be expected to play a major role in the stability of the thick filament as a whole. In wild-type worms, UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B and the thick filaments are normal and stable, while in unc-45 (ts) mutants grown at the restrictive temperature, even though mutant UNC-45 still co-localizes with MHC B, the thick filaments are short and disorganized. MHC B levels are reduced in these worms, suggesting that unassembled or mis-assembled MHC B is degraded (Barral et al., 1998). UNC-45 shows no thick filament localization in MHC B null mutants. The simplest explanation for these results is that unc-45 (ts) mutant animals are defective for an activity which stabilizes MHC B in long, polarized thick filaments. The lack of this activity leads (i) to the instability of the thick filament and (ii) directly or indirectly to the lack of a polarized arrangement of MHC A and B. unc-45 (ts) mutants are caused by missense mutations within the CRO1/She4 domain of UNC-45 (Barral et al., 1998). This suggests that full activity of the CRO1/She4 domain is critical for the MHC B stabilizing function of UNC-45. To test this hypothesis, one would need to be able to remove all UNC-45 function from a muscle cell once the filaments have been assembled normally, and examine the stability of the thick filament with time.

While we have detected co-localization of UNC-45 and MHC B staining, and the disorganized muscle structure and function resulting from unc-45 (ts) alleles can be suppressed by removing all MHC B and increasing MHC A levels, UNC-45 must be playing a larger role in muscle patterning. As discussed earlier, UNC-45 may have some role with MHC A for the initiation of thick filament assembly since the sup-3 alleles of MHC A cannot suppress or ameliorate the phenotype of the lethal alleles of unc-45 (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). Also, in embryos homozygous for lethal alleles of unc-45, MHC A assembly begins, but MHC B assembly into thick filaments (even disorganized ones) is not seen (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). This lack of MHC B assembly is similar to that seen in strong myo-3 alleles, where MHC B remains dispersed until late in embryogenesis (Waterston, 1989). Thus, UNC-45 appears to be necessary for the early stages of myosin assembly, even though it does not appear to be concentrated in or around the thick filament at that time. Later, in the adult, it is also necessary for filament stability, and thick filament localization is seen.

UNC-45 is also required outside the body wall muscles. Strong UNC-45 reporter gene expression and immunofluorescence is seen in the pharyngeal muscles, where thick filaments are composed of MHC C and D. No disorganization of pharyngeal muscle structure has yet been reported in *unc-45* mutants, but *unc-45* lethal alleles result in embryos where no pharyngeal pumping is seen, while embryos homozygous for null alleles of MHC A and B do not have apparent pharyngeal defects (Venolia and Waterston 1990). Thus, UNC-45 may play a role in assembly or stability of thick filaments in pharyngeal muscles (and other muscles) as well as in body wall muscles. Examination of

pharyngeal muscle structure using electron microscopy may be necessary to address this hypothesis.

A model for the function of UNC-45 in body wall muscles is shown in Figure 4.1. In the early stages of development, UNC-45 is required for the initiation of assembly of MHC A and B onto the thick filament core structure. Although it is not associated with thick filaments in these stages, it may function as a catalyst to modify MHC B (and/or MHC A) before assembly or directly participate in the assembly itself. For unc-45 lethal alleles st601 and st603 (which encode mutant UNC-45 containing stop codons between the TPR domain and the CRO1/She4 domain (Barral et al., 1998)), loss of UNC-45 function results in embryonic lethality. In the larval stages, UNC-45 becomes localized, perhaps onto an intermediate in the assembly of thick filaments and associated with MHC B. In the adult, UNC-45 is a component of thick filaments and functions as a stabilizer for MHC B. In the case of unc-45 missense mutations e286 and r450 (which encode mutant UNC-45 carrying amino acid changes within the CRO1/She4 domain), MHC B may not be modified properly in the early stages, so that it cannot be distinguished from MHC A and their localization on the thick filament is no longer differential. Moreover, MHC B is unstable on the filament and shows reduced accumulation, resulting in disorganized muscle structure. UNC-45 may function in a similar fashion with MHC C and D in the pharyngeal muscles. This model makes some testable predictions: (i) MHC A assembly into thick filaments in early embryos should initiate, but not proceed far in unc-45 (null) embryos; (ii) UNC-45 should physically interact with some form of MHC B, but not MHC A in vitro and (iii) UNC-45 should purify with thick filaments isolated from adult worms, and should be stoichiometrically related to the level of MHC B in the

preparation. To fully understand UNC-45 function, especially its role in the initiation of assembly in the early stages, we will need a better understanding of the nature of the MHC A and B molecules in the earliest stages of thick filament assembly in the embryo.

As discussed above, UNC-45 may function as a stabilizer, an assemblase or a chaperone. As a chaperone, it would be required for the proper folding of a protein (presumably in the cytoplasm) but does not stably associate with the protein. My results do not support this, since UNC-45 does physically associate with thick filaments in adult worms although UNC-45 staining is cytoplasmic at the time thick filaments are being assembled (L1 stage). An assemblase would be required during the process of myosin assembly but should disassociate with myosin once the process completes. This is partially supported by the reversible phenotypes during larval stages when the temperature is shifted between permissive and restrictive temperatures and that UNC-45 does not associate with MHC B in early larval stages. In contrast, however UNC-45 associates with MHC B in adult worms. It seems that UNC-45 most likely functions as a stabilizer. This is evidenced by its physical association with MHC B on muscle thick filaments and the unstability of MHC B in unc-45 (ts) mutants grown at restrictive temperatures.

#### 4.5 Maternal UNC-45 interacts with a non-muscle myosin NMY-2.

Why is UNC-45 mRNA and protein provided to the embryo, if it is not required until later in zygotic development? We have been unable to address this question genetically, since the strongest alleles of *unc-45* are zygotic embryonic lethals, and it has not been possible to examine embryos which lack any maternal contribution. Likewise, we have attempted to use RNA-mediated interference (RNAi) to deplete any maternal contributions, but have been unable to produce embryos which are devoid of UNC-45 cross reacting material. The localization of UNC-45 staining to the cell cortex, most obviously to cell boundaries in early embryos, suggested that UNC-45 may have an early-embryo specific role that has remained obscure until now. The staining pattern is not unique, as several maternally contributed components show asymmetrical localization in the two-cell embryo (Rose and Kemphues, 1998), including the non-muscle myosin NMY-2 (Guo and Kemphues, 1996) which is also enriched in the germline cells of the adult and early embryos.

The observations that UNC-45 and NMY-2 co-localize in the embryo, that UNC-45 interacts with NMY-2 in the yeast two hybrid assay, and that UNC-45 localization in the embryo is disrupted if NMY-2 is removed using RNAi compel us to suggest a specific function for UNC-45 at this stage, even if there is not yet genetic evidence for such a role. NMY-2 has been shown to be required for embryonic polarity (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). It interacts through it's tail domain with PAR-1 and participates in the asymmetric localization of PAR proteins (Guo and Kemphues, 1996). Moreover, NMY-2 is also required for cytokinesis and body morphology during embryogenesis (Guo and Kemphues, 1996; Shelton et al., 1999) and a non-muscle myosin regulatory light chain, MLC-4, is also involved in this process (Shelton et al., 1999). Thus, this is the second instance of UNC-45 subcellular localization being dependent on a type II myosin molecule, the first being MHC B in the body wall muscle.

#### 4.6 The possible role of maternal UNC-45 in early embryos.

As mentioned above, both UNC-45 and NMY-2 are expressed in the germline cells of the gonad and the pre-morphogenesis embryos, and the localization of maternal

UNC-45 at the cell boundaries is also dependent on the presence of NMY-2. It is tempting to assume that the biochemical role which UNC-45 has in its interaction with MHC B in the body wall muscle is related to its interaction with NMY-2. As mentioned above, the nature of this interaction is not yet clear, but UNC-45 may act as an assemblase, necessary for the proper polarized assembly of the myosin molecules, or as a stabilizer, preventing disassembly and degradation of myosin (I have discussed the difference between these, and how they may be ascertained, in the end of section 4.4).

Since the role of nonmuscle myosin II, particularly in cytokinesis, is a dynamic one where there is constant remodeling of the cytoskeleton, there is not an obvious need for a myosin stabilizer. However, this dynamic process may certainly involve factors necessary for targeting, assembly and disassembly of myosin filaments (Bresnick, 1999). Overexpression of Myo4p in yeast leads to defects in cytokinesis and polarized growth and the Ash1 protein may be helping to arrange or stabilize the myosin (Haarer et al., 1994). Given the similarity between UNC-45 and She4p, it is tempting to think the role may be evolutionarily conserved.

Since UNC-45 clearly plays a role in myosin assembly or stability in muscles, it seems most likely that its role in the embryo is mediated through NMY-2. Therefore, unless there is evidence for a completely independent role for UNC-45, it is simplest to assume that any defects in embryonic patterning that arise in embryos lacking all maternal UNC-45 may be due to failure of NMY-2 to properly assemble, or a failure of assembled myosin filaments to remain stable. Indeed, such defects may not be limited to embryos, as cytokinesis is necessary for proper oogenesis, and the F1 progeny of *nmy-2* RNAi develop to sterile adults. The UNC-45 homologue CRO1 is necessary for transition

from syncytial to cellular growth in *Podospora anserina* (Berteaux-Lecellier et al., 1998) and UNC-45 may play a similar role in the hermaphrodite gonad.

It is also interesting to note that both *C. elegans* HUM-2 and *S. cerevisiae* Myo4 belong to the same myosin subgroup, myosin V. Although there is no evidence that She4 interacts directly with Myo4 for regulating the asymmetrical localization of *Ash1* mRNA in yeast as discussed earlier, the interaction of UNC-45 and HUM-2 in yeast assays supports this possibility. This in turn supports the possibility of interaction of UNC-45 and NMY-2 in the regulation of asymmetric division in *C. elegans*. Moreover, this shows that UNC-45 is capable of interacting with multiple myosins *in vivo* and is involved in different cellular processes (muscle thick filament assembly and embryonic polarity).

# 4.7 UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin-associated proteins

In muscles, we have shown that zygotic UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B in the thick filament and this localization is dependent on the presence of MHC B and required for the assembly and stability of muscle thick filaments. Although we have not been able to show that they interact directly *in vivo*, genetic evidence does support such a conclusion. We have also shown that maternal UNC-45 co-localizes with a non-muscle myosin, NMY-2, at the cleavage furrow of early embryos and this localization requires the presence of NMY-2. Finally, we have shown that UNC-45 interacts with an unconventional myosin HUM-2 in yeast two-hybrid assays. Therefore, UNC-45 may associate with multiple tissue-specific myosins during development in *C. elegans*. Moreover, it has been shown that She4 may interact with an unconventional myosin Myo4p (She1) in the process that affects the mating type switching ability of the yeast cell (Jansen et al., 1996; Bertrand, et al., 1998) and both Myo4 and HUM-2 are class type

V myosins. We have shown that UNC-45 may have homologues in *Drosophila* and humans, although their functions remain to be characterized and it has not been tested whether they interact with myosin. Based on these observations, I propose that UNC-45 defines a novel class of myosin-associated proteins.

In yeast two-hybrid screens, a 140 amino acid region of HUM-2 was identified and the identified NMY-2 fragment also contains the corresponding region (Figure 3.20). I will refer to this region as a potential UNC-45 binding site (UBS). The first 30 amino acids at the N-terminal end of this region is highly conserved among HUM-2, NMY-2, MHC B and MHC A (Figure 4.2). If this smaller region is an actual UNC-45 binding site, UNC-45 may be expected to interact with all four of these myosins. However, MHC A is different from MHC B, NMY-2 and HUM-2, since there is no evidence that it associates with UNC-45 in muscle cells and its interaction with UNC-45 in yeast has not yet been able to be detected. At the C-terminal end of this region, MHC A does have two amino acids (Thr631 and Gln657) which are different from the conserved amino acids (lysine and glycine) in the other three myosins (Figure 4.2). This difference may affect the affinity of MHC A to UNC-45.

### 4.8 Ubiquitination system and CeUFD2

As mentioned earlier, one strong positive identified from the yeast two-hybrid screen is CeUFD2, which is very similar in sequence to the yeast ubiquitination system protein UFD2. In eukaryotic cells, protein activities and levels are regulated by differential gene expression, translation regulation and post-translational regulation. One of the post-translational regulations is the ubiquitin-mediated selective protein degradation. This ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis system plays an important role in a broad range of cellular processes. In addition to the degradation of cyclins in cell cycle regulation, it is also involved in removal of abnormal proteins, generation of free amino acids, cell growth and cellular differentiation (Jentsch, 1992; Hochestrasser, 1996; Ciechanover, et al., 2000). In most cases, the ubiquitin-targeted substrates are degraded by the 26S proteasome, the major protease in eukaryotes. In some cases, ubiquitination can also target proteins to lysosomes for degradation or mediate other regulatory functions (Hochestrasser, 1996; Ciechanover, et al., 2000). Recently, the discovery of other ubiquitin-like proteins suggests that there are other proteolytic pathways which are similar but distinct from the ubiquitination pathway (Tanaka, et al., 1998; Jentsch and Pyrowolakis, 2000; Yeh, et al., 2000).

Ubiquitin is a highly conserved 76-residue protein (~ 8kD) in all eukaryotic cells (Hochestrasser, 1996). It exists in a free form or as part of a branched covalently linked protein-protein complex in which its C-terminus is attached to a lysine side chain of acceptor proteins during the process of substrate protein degradation. The degradation process requires the ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1) and the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2). In some cases, E3s (auxiliary substrate recognition proteins) are also required (Hochestrasser, 1996). More recently, it has been shown that a novel additional conjugation factor, E4 (UFD2), is required for efficient multiubiquitin chain assembly in yeast (Johnson, et al., 1995; Koegl, et al., 1999. Figure 4.3). The CeUFD2 protein identified from my yeast two-hybrid screens and encoded by the *C elegans* T05H10.5 gene (named after the cosmid sequence on which it was found) shows high sequence similarity to this yeast UFD2 and therefore is a proposed member of E4 family.

The UFD2-like proteins are highly conserved from yeast to humans (Pukatzke, et al., 1998; Koegl et al., 1999). Database searches indicate one fission yeast (*S. pombe*) homologue, one *D. discoideum* homologue (NOSA), one putative *Drosophila* homologue and two putative human homologues in addition to CeUFD2. *NOSA* is essential for the normal development of *D. discoideum* (Pukatzki, et al., 1998). Although CeUFD2 is expressed in the intestine and some nerve cells, its role in *C. elegans* development remains unclear. There is evidence that the ubiquitination pathway plays an important role in the nervous system of *C. elegans. let-70 (ubc-2)*, a member of the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s), has been shown to be an essential gene required for larval development and it is expressed in the nervous system in the adult (Zhen, et al., 1993 and 1996).

The interaction between UNC-45 and CeUFD2 in yeast assays suggests that CeUFD2 may interact *in vivo* with a protein that contains TPR repeats similar to those in UNC-45. Also, the expression pattern of such a protein should overlap with that of CeUFD2. The best candidate in the *C. elegans* genome is a predicted gene (T09B4.10), which encodes a predicted protein of 272 amino acids with a TPR domain at its Nterminus and a UFD2-homology domain at its C-terminus (Figure 3.22). However, the expression pattern of the T09B4.10 gene has not been examined.

### 4.9 Sequence comparison of C. elegans and C. briggsae unc-45 homologues

As expected, *C. elegans* UNC-45 and its *C. briggsae* homologue show high identity in their protein sequences (Figure 3.13) because they are evolutionarily closely-related species (de Bono and Hodgkin, 1996). The two proteins are the same size (961 amino acids) and 88% identical overall increasing to 95% in the TPR domain. The

overall level of similarity made it difficult to predict functional domains based only on the local level of conservation.

Despite the high conservation at the protein level, the organization of their exons differs considerably (Figure 3.12). From initiation to termination codons, the *C. elegans unc-45* gene (~ 12.0 kbp) is almost four-fold larger than its *C. briggsae* homologue (~3.3 kbp). This difference can be accounted for entirely by the difference in the number and size of the introns. *C. briggsae* has five introns and all are about 50 bp long, whereas the *C. elegans* homologue contains ten introns, four of them larger than 1.0 kbp (the largest intron is almost 1.6 kbp). This high identity of homologue protein sequences with strong divergence in non-coding regions has also been reported in other *C. briggsae* homologues of *C. elegans* genes (Hansen and Pilgrim, 1998; Maduro and Pilgrim, 1996; Blumenthal, per. comm.).

### 4.10 Speculations for putative Drosophila and human unc-45 homologues

Based on the similarity in size and amino acid sequence between the putative *Drosophila* UNC-45 homologue and *C. elegans* UNC-45, it is expected that the two homologues may have a similar cellular function. The fly homologue may also function in the development of muscles and probably interacts with myosin isoforms. It should be noted that the expression of MHC isoforms in *Drosophila* is different from what is seen in *C. elegans*. There is only a single MHC gene in *Drosophila*, which is spliced in a developmentally and muscle-type specific manner to express different isoforms (Berstein et al., 1983; George, et al., 1989; Morgan, 1995). The *Drosophila* gene is 36 kbp in length and contains 19 exons, of which some are common and expressed in all the isoforms while five exist as alternatively spliced exon groups (Standiford, et al., 1997;

Davis, et al., 1998; Hordge et al., 1999). The potential UNC-45 binding site (UBS) in the head domain of myosin (Figure 4.2), judged from its interaction with HUM-2 and NMY-2, is probably located in the common exon 10 or 12 of the fly gene (Davis, et al., 1998; Hordge et al., 1999). If there is indeed only a single UNC-45 homologue in *Drosophila*, that will mean that it may interact with all the isoforms. There is a *Drosophila* strain which has a P-element insertion mutation in the 5' end of the predicted unc-45 homologue and it is a homozygous lethal, but the terminal phenotype of this strain has not yet been characterized.

Although the sequence of the putative human *unc-45* homologue is still not complete, an examination of the available sequence suggests that the human and worm homologues may also be highly conserved. In humans, there are eight sarcomeric MHC genes identified so far (Weiss, et al., 1999) and some of them have been correlated with specific MHC isoforms, such as MHCs- $\alpha$ , and - $\beta(I)$ , MHC-Emb, MHC-Neo, MHC-IIa, MHC-IIx, MHC-IIb, and MHC-EOM (Weiss and Leinwand, 1996; Talmadge, 2000). These isoforms are expressed in different developmental stages or muscle types, while some of them also co-exist in the same muscle type. MHC-EOM is only found in the muscles that control eye movement, whereas MHC-Emb and MHC-Neo are limited to pre- and early postnatal muscle development. In the adult limb skeletal muscles, only MHC-I, MHC-IIa and MHC-IIx are predominantly expressed and found singularly in type I, IIA and IIX fibers, respectively (Smerdu et al., 1994; Talmadge, et al., 1996).

### **4.11 Future directions**

The role of UNC-45 in muscle development and thick filament assembly is apparent, but whether the maternal UNC-45 has a role in embryogenesis is still not clear.

Whether UNC-45 is required for the assembly of MHC A or how it is involved in its assembly is also not understood. How the interaction of UNC-45 with myosins is related to its function is also a question. Following are some suggestions that may be helpful to address these questions in the future.

(i). To Determine the role of maternal UNC-45

I have been unable to directly address the role of UNC-45 in embryogenesis, although NMY-2 co-localizes with UNC-45 in the cleavage furrow and is required for the localization of UNC-45. This is because I have been unable to completely remove the maternal contribution of UNC-45 in embryos either through mutations or by the regular RNA interference approach.

A potential solution is to try feeding worms *E. coli* which expresses a dsRNA construct (Timmons and Fire, 1998). In this way, the worms are continuously exposed to the dsRNA. This may improve the efficiency of RNA interference and lead to a depletion of the maternal UNC-45 in the progeny. Also, this approach can be applied to unc-45 (*ts*) and unc-45 (*let*) as well, in addition to wild-type worms.

Another approach is mosaic analysis. In the well established extra-chromosomal transgenic lines, the transgene is poorly expressed in germ-line cells but well expressed in somatic cells (Kelly, et al., 1997). This is actually a mosaic expression for the transgene whose product is not present in the germ-line cells. We already have a functional UNC-45::GFP strain which carries an extra-chromosomal array of the transgene. Crossing this strain to *unc-45* (*st601*) heterozygous males can lead to a strain which will produce *unc-45* (*st601*) heterozygotes that carry the UNC-45::GFP transgene. If this transgene can rescue the *st601* allele, these *st601* homozygous worms will grow to adults which will not

be able to produce any maternally rescued F2 progeny since the transgene (UNC-45::GFP) is not well expressed in the germline. However, an examination of the F2 embryos for any defects in early embryogenesis (such as cytokinesis or embryonic polarity) may reveal the role of maternal UNC-45.

(ii). To examine the role of UNC-45 in the assembly of MHC A

If UNC-45 does not have a role in the embryo outside of muscle cells, the lethal phenotype of *unc-45* mutant alleles is most likely caused by the failure of UNC-45 in a putative interaction with MHC A, since both *unc-45* and *myo-3* null mutants have a similar "Pat" phenotype and genetic evidence does suggest that UNC-45 interacts with MHC A.

In *unc-45* lethal mutants, MHC A assembly is observed to initiate (Venolia and Waterston, 1990). This could be due to the function of maternal UNC-45. If maternal UNC-45 is completely removed, can the assembly of MHC A still be initiated? The approaches mentioned above can be used to produce embryos that are devoid of maternal UNC-45. An examination of these embryos by immuno-fluorescence should be able to answer this question. If these embryos can develop to the two-fold stage (still "Pat") but the initiation of MHC A assembly can no longer be observed, this will tell us that UNC-45 is indeed required to initiate the assembly of MHC A.

Immunoprecipitation is another approach to examine the interaction of UNC-45 with MHC A *in vitro*. It will not be surprising to see MHC B in the immunoprecipitates using UNC-45 antibodies, but how about MHC A (especially from the protein extracts from early embryos)? If MHC A can be pulled out in the assays, it will support the idea that UNC-45 plays a role in the initiation of MHC A assembly.

# (iii). To map the UNC-45 binding site in myosin

Based on the co-localization of UNC-45 with MHC B and NMY-2 *in vivo* and its interaction with NMY-2 and HUM-2 in yeast two-hybrid assays, I propose that there is an UNC-45-binding site (UBS) in the myosin type II molecules. In particular, the 140 amino acid small segment from the HUM-2 head domain is sufficient for that interaction (Figure 3.19). Although I failed to show an interaction of UNC-45 with MHC B in the yeast assay system, it is possibly due to the poor expression of MHC B in yeast, since the whole large molecule was used for the assays. To further test MHC B in yeast, it may be helpful to use small fragments of MHC B, particularly those that include the region identified in HUM-2.

Another strategy to determine the UBS in MHC B is to use MHC A and MHC B molecular chimeras that can confer MHC A-specific function and rescue *myo-3* null mutations (Hoppe and Waterston, 1996). Using the UNC-45 antibody to stain the thick filaments of these transgenic worms, if UNC-45 is still localized to thick filaments, it will mean that the chimeric molecule contains the UBS of MHC B since I have shown UNC-45 is only associated with MHC B but not MHC A *in vivo*. Conversely, if UNC-45 is not localized to thick filaments, it will indicate that the UBS of MHC B is no longer present in that chimera. Since many different chimeras are available, these may help to determine the specific UBS of MHC B. I have already tested two strains which are rescued by two different chimeras (chimera 7 and 8 in Figure 1.7. Hoppe and Waterston, 1996). In these two strains, UNC-45 is still localized to thick filaments. This is what I expected, since these two chimeras contain the potential UBS region of MHC B in the head domain. I

would not expect UNC-45 to be localized to thick filaments in the strains that are rescued by chimeras that do not contain that region (such as chimera 11 and 13 in Figure 1.7).

# (iv). To screen for suppressors of unc-45 mutations

UNC-45 is associated with MHC B in the thick filament in the adult, but in the larval stages UNC-45 is not physically associated with nascent thick filaments. UNC-45 may play a regulatory role in early stages for the initiation of thick filament assembly and a structural role in the adult for the stability of thick filaments. It will be very interesting (at least to me) to know how UNC-45 is involved in these processes. Are there any other proteins involved in these processes with UNC-45? Genetic screens for suppressors of *unc-45* mutations may be a way to answer these interesting questions. However, it should been noticed that *sup-3* may be one of these suppressors since high expression of *myo-3* gene can result in near normal muscle structure without UNC-45 activity.

### 5. Acknowledgement

We are grateful to Dr. Ken Kemphues for providing antibody against NMY-2, Dr. David Miller II for antibodies against MHC isoforms (5-6 and 5-8), Dr. Joel Rothman for MH27 and Dr. Andrew Fire for GFP vectors. We are also in debt to Dr. Robert Barstead for providing *C. elegans* cDNA libraries and Dr. Philip James for the yeast two-hybrid strain (PJ69-4A) and expression vectors. We thank Dr. Yuji Kohara for sharing the database of *in situ* hybridization patterns. We also thank Drs. Pam Hoppe, Don Moerman, Lee Venolia, Paul Mains, and Morris Maduro for comments, and anonymous reviewers for helpful suggestions for the manuscripts, Rakesh Bhatnagar for helping with confocal microscopy, Heather Lemon, Shawna Maguire and Janette Berg for help in generating the UNC-45 antibody and immunoblotting. Some nematode strains used in this work were provided by the *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center, which is funded by the NIH National Center for Research Resources (NCRR). This work was supported by Medical Research.

6. Figures



Figure 1.1 A diagram showing the four quadrants of body wall muscle cells in cylindrical projection. The 28 gray cells originated from the MS founder cell; the 32 unshaded cells from the C founder cell; the 20 dark cells from the D blastomere and the striped cell from the AB founder cell (Modified from Krause and Weintraub, 1992).



Figure 1.2 A diagram of the sarcomere in vertebrates, the basic unit of muscle contraction. M-line, Z-disc, thick and thin filaments are indicated. Titin, a giant protein kinase, is also shown.



Figure 1.3 Components of *C. elegans* thick and thin filaments. Top, the contractile unit of muscle; Middle, thick and thin filaments; Bottom, the known protein components of thick and thin filaments. (modified from Waterston, 1988)



Figure 1.4 (A) A diagram of the cross section of the rigid tubule model of the core structure of C. *elegans* muscle thick filaments (Esptein et al., 1995). The outer layer is composed of seven paramyosin subfilaments (dark dots). These subfilaments are cross-linked with internal proteins (the gray ring). (B) Each subfilament consists of two strands of paramyosin molecules. Paramyosin dimers are packed in an anti-parallel manner in the center and in a parallel manner in the polar regions.



Figure 1.5. A diagram of a conventional myosin II molecule, showing the ATP and actin binding sites in the head domain, IQ motif (light chain and calmodulin binding sequence) in the neck domain and the coiled-coil tail domain.



Figure 1.6 The two myosin isoforms of *C. elegans* body wall muscle. (A), MHC A and MHC B (homodimer molecules), head and tail domains are indicated. (B), MHC B dimers are packed in a parallel manner in the two polar regions of thick filaments, whereas MHC A molecules are packed in an anti-parallel manner, resulting in a central bare region where no myosin heads are present. The core structure of thick filaments consists of paramyosin subfilaments (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.7 MHC A/MHC B chimeras used to test MHC Aspecific function (Hoppe and Waterston, 1996). Two regions have been determined to be able to confer upon the chimera the ability to rescue a *myo-3* null mutant and initiate filament assembly. Region 1 is 263 amino acids in length and region 2 is a segment of 169 residues. Black boxes are regions from MHC B and white boxes are regions from MHC A.



**Figure 1.8 Embryonic cell lineage of a** *C. elegans* hermaphrodite, showing the origin of muscle cells and other cell types from the founder cells (the number of muscle cells is shown parenthetically. Modified from Krause and Weintraub, 1992).



Figure 1.9 A diagram showing some of the stages of *C. elegans* embryogenesis. The developmental time of each stage is indicated in minutes after fertilization (Modified from Williams and Waterston, 1994).



Figure 1.10 Polarity of the early embryo. (Left is anterior and right is posterior) A, late one-cell stage; B, two-cell embryo; C, four-cell embryo. Dark dots, P granules; small circles, nuclei (Modified from Kemphues and Strome, 1997).

25°C







Figure 1.11 Electron microscopy images of unc-45 (e286) at different temperatures, showing the defects in body wall muscles at the restrictive temperature of 25°C. (adapted from Epstein and Thomson, 1974)



Figure 1.12 UNC-45 sequence alignment. *unc-45* encodes a protein of 961 amino acids, which contains three tetratricopeptide repeats (TPR) at its N-terminus. The C-terminus end of UNC-45 shows high similarity with the *S. cerevisiae* She4 protein and *Podospora* CRO1 protein. UNC-45 mutations are indicated as R210STOP (*st603*), W335STOP(*st601*), G427E(*b131*), L559S(*su2002*), E781K(*m94/r450*) and L822F(*e286*) (Barral et al., 1998).



Figure 1.13 Transportation of *Ash1* mRNA into the daughter cell in the budding yeast. Ash1 is required to repress the *HO* expression in the daughter cell. Five She proteins are involved in this process and She1 is the mini-myosin Myo4 (Jansen et al., 1996).



Figure 3.1 unc-45::GFP expression. A GFP reporter driven by the unc-45 promoter is expressed in pharyngeal muscles (A), body wall muscles (B), vulval muscles (C) and anal muscles (D).



Figure 3.2 unc-45::GFP from an extra-chromosomal transgenic array is expressed only in the muscle cells, representing zygotic expression (anterior is to the left and dorsal to the top in A and B). A and C show the GFP expression in muscle cells at bean and two-fold stages of development, respectively. B to D are DIC images of the same embryos as A and C. Arrows indicate the GFP signal in the muscle cells. Bar, 10 µm.



Figure 3.3 *unc-45*::LacZ expression. The ß-galactosidase signal is localized in the nucleus of the muscle cells since this fusion protein contains a nuclear localization signal. A, a young male adult worm, showing signal in body wall muscles and strong signal in the head. B, high magnification of the head of an adult worm, showing signal in pharyngeal muscles. C, ß-galactosidase signal in a two-fold embryo.



Figure 3.4 Motility assay for RW2329 [unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] and RW2665 [unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)] mutants. A, B, C and D are plates showing the traces of worms after crawling for 1 hour at 25°C for RW2665[unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)], RW2329 [unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92)], N2 and unc-45 (m94), respectively. The dots in the centers of the plates are the start points and the others are the end points. N2 and unc-45 (m94) were used as controls. Five young adults were assayed for each strain and all showed similar motility. There is no apparent difference for the motility between RW2329 and RW2665.


Figure 3.5 Comparison of the functional UNC-45::GFP protein distribution and the muscle filament pattern under polarized light microscopy in the body wall muscles of the rescued *unc-45* (r450). (A) is the GFP signal associated with the UNC-45::GFP fusion protein. (B) is the same field showing the muscle filament pattern as visualized by polarized light microscopy. The arrows indicate the thick filaments-containing A-bands. The bar is 10  $\mu$ m.



Figure 3.6 UNC-45 protein is detectable in the germline cells of the hermaphrodite gonad. A and B are the same distal part of a hermaphrodite gonad stained with anti-UNC-45 antibody (7N5) and DAPI, which stains the cell nuclei, respectively. C and D are the distal part of another hermaphrodite gonad stained with 7N5 preimmune serum and DAPI, respectively as controls. Bar,  $10 \mu m$ .



Figure 3.7 UNC-45 is expressed in the pre-morphogenesis embryos (anterior is to the left in all embryos). A and C are stained with anti-UNC-45 antibody (7N5). B and D are the same embryos as A and C, respectively stained with DAPI to show the cell nuclei. The developmental stages of these embryos are approximately (A) 40 min (two-cell)and (C) 100 min, respectively. The arrow in A indicates the UNC-45 concentration at the cleavage furrow. Bar, 10  $\mu$ m.



Figure 3.8 In situ hybridization with unc-45 cDNA probe. A and B are embryos at the developmental time about 40 min (two-cell stage) and 100 min, respectively after fertilization, showing that unc-45 mRNA is distributed in all cells. C and D are embryos at comma and two-fold stages, respectively. Arrows indicate muscle cells in which unc-45 mRNA is enriched. E is a hermaphrodite adult, showing unc-45 mRNA in the germline cells of the gonad. Data from Dr. Yuji Kohara at http://watson.genes.nig.ac.jp/db/keysrch.html.



Figure 3.9 UNC-45 protein begins to be enriched in the muscle cells at about 420 cell stage of embryogenesis (See the legend on next page).

Figure 3.9 UNC-45 protein begins to be enriched in the muscle cells at about the 420 cell stage of embryogenesis (anterior is to the left and dorsal to the top in all embryos). A to D are stained with anti-UNC-45 antibody (7N5). E to H are the same embryos as A to D, respectively, stained with MH27 monoclonal antibody. The developmental stages of these embryos are (A) 270 min, (B) 300 min, (C) 320 min and(D) 350 min after fertilization, respectively. Arrows in B, C and D indicate the staining in the muscle cells. UNC-45 distribution is still even in all the cells at 270 min (A) but begins to be concentrated in the muscle cells by 300 min (B). Bar, 10  $\mu$ m.





**Figure 3.10 UNC-45 co-localizes with MHC B in the thick filaments of body wall muscles of wild-type adult worms.** A, B and C are the same field of body wall muscle labeled with anti-UNC-45 (7N5), anti-MHC B (DM 5-8) or doublelabeled with 7N5 and DM 5-8, respectively. D, E and F are the same field of body wall muscle labeled with 7N5, anti-MHC A (DM 5-6) or double-labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-6, respectively. G, H and I are the same field of body wall muscle labeled with DM 5-8, DM 5-6 or double-labeled with DM 5-8 and DM 5-6, respectively. Note that DM 5-8 reacts with MHC B which is localized on the two polar regions of the A-bands and DM 5-6 reacts with MHC A which is localized in the middle of the A-bands. C shows the overlapped pattern of UNC-45 and MHC B at the two polar regions of the thick filaments. F and I show a similar pattern with a central labeled strip when double-labeled with UNC-45 and DM-5-6 or DM 5-8 and DM 5-6, respectively. The arrows indicate the central unlabeled strip for UNC-45 (A and D) and for MHC B (B and G), the central unlabeled strip for double-staining(C) as shown in Figure 3.9 E and the central labeled strip for double-staining (F and I) in Figure 3.9 F. The bars are 10 µm.



Figure 3.11 Northern analysis. Lanes a-c, the 3.5 kb *unc-45* mRNA was detected using an anti-sense probe (a. 2  $\mu$ g of total RNA; b. 2  $\mu$ g of poly A<sup>+</sup> enriched RNA; c. 2  $\mu$ g of poly A<sup>+</sup> depleted RNA); d, as a control, the 2.0 kb *act-1* mRNA was detected with the *act-1* cDNA probe (2  $\mu$ g of total RNA). The positions of RNA molecular size standards are indicated.



Figure 3.12 Comparison of genomic organization of *C. elegans unc-45* gene with its *C. briggsae* homologue. *C. elegans unc-45* has 11 exons and covers about 12 kbp of genomic DNA, whereas its *C. briggsae* homologue has only 6 exons and covers about only 3.1 kbp of genomic DNA. These two genes are drawn to scale. Black bars are exons (Large introns are drawn as peaks and their sizes are indicated).



Figure 3.13 Alignment of *C. elegans* and *C. briggsae* UNC-45 homologue sequences. Identical amino acids are darkly shaded and similar amino acids are lightly shaded.



Figure 3.14 Alignment of UNC-45 with its *Drosophila* homologue. Identical amino acids are darkly shaded and similar amino acids are lightly shaded. The TPR domain at the N-terminus and the CRO1/She4 domain at the C-terminus are boxed (*Drosophila* homologue accession #AE003677).



Figure 3.15 Alignment of UNC-45 with partial sequences of its putative human homologue. These sequences are 7 unordered pieces from human chromosome 15q6.1 (Accession #AC004586.1). The TPR domain at the N-terminus and the CRO1/She4 domain at the C-terminus are boxed.



Figure 3.16 A schematic diagram of muscle thick filaments (please see the legend on next page).

Figure 3.16 A schematic diagram of muscle thick filaments. (A) Thick filament, depicting the localization of UNC-45, MHC A and B. (B) Part of a sarcomere, showing the structure of thick filament, thin filament, M-line and dense body. (C) Part of a body wall muscle, showing A-band, I-band, M-line and dense body. (D) Schematic view of thick filaments as visualized by polarized light microscopy, showing A-band and the central dark strip in the A-band which corresponds to the region containing only the thick filaments but not thin filaments. (E) Schematic view of thick filaments when labeled with both UNC-45 (green) and MHC B (red) antibodies as shown in Figure 3.8 C. The color appears as light yellow, since the UNC-45 and MHC B are completely overlapped. The central unlabeled strip corresponds to the region containing only MHC A, but not MHC B or UNC-45. (F) Schematic view of thick filaments when labeled with both UNC-45 (green) and MHC A (red) antibodies as shown in Figure 3.8 F. The central labeled strip corresponds to the whole region containing MHC A and appears as dark yellow due to the overlapping parts of MHC A and UNC-45 and the central part containing only MHC A.









Figure 3.17 UNC-45 and MHC A staining in mutant worms. A and B are the same field of body wall muscle from unc-45 (r450) mutant animals grown at the restrictive temperature ( $22^{\circ}C$ ) labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-6, respectively. C and D are the same field of body wall muscle from unc-54 (e190) mutants labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-6, respectively. E and F are the same field of body wall muscle from unc-54 (e190); sup-3 (e1407st90st92) mutants labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-6, respectively. G and H are the same field of body muscle from unc-54 (e190); unc-45 (m94); sup-3(e1407st90st92) mutants labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-6, respectively. Note that UNC-45 is localized to thick filaments in unc-45 (ts) mutants (A), but not in unc-54 (0) mutants (C) in which MHC B is absent and unc-54 (0); sup-3 mutants (E and G) in which MHC B is absent, but the level of MHC A is increased. Bars, 10 µm.



Figure 3.18 UNC-45 may be added into thick filaments after MHC isoforms. A, B and C are the same part of a wild-type worm at the L1 larval stage labeled with 7N5, DM 5-8 or double-labeled with 7N5 and DM 5-8, respectively. D, E and F are enlarged for the boxed areas of A, B and C, respectively, showing one muscle cell. Note that UNC-45 is diffuse in the cytoplasm (D) whereas MHC B has been assembled into thick filaments near the cell membrane along the face of the muscle cell that is adjacent to the hypodermis (E). The bars are 10  $\mu$ m.



Figure 3. 19. Four positive clones identified from yeast twohybrid screens. 1-4 are their interactions with the *unc-45* whole cDNA bait (pDP#WA039) on the selective media. 5-8 are their interactions with a 2.6 kbp *unc-45* cDNA bait (pDP#WA040) in which the region encoding the TPR domain has been removed. 1 and 5 are CeUFD2. 2 and 6 are HUM-2. 3 and 7 are NMY-2. 4 and 8 are from a weak positive, which was not further characterized.



Figure 3.20. Two myosins identified from the yeast two-hybrid screens that interact with UNC-45. HUM-2 is an unconventional type V myosin and the identified cDNA encodes a 140 amino acid segment located in the head domain (gray part). NMY-2 is a non-muscle type II myosin and a region of 530 amino acids (gray part) located mostly in the head domain interacts with UNC-45. Note that these two identified regions overlap in the highly conserved head domain as indicated.



Figure 3.21. Confocal images of embryos, showing the localization of UNC-45 and NMY-2 in wild-type and the localization of UNC-45 in the *nmy-2* (RNAi) embryos (See the legend on next page).

111

Figure 3.21. Confocal images of embryos, showing the localization of UNC-45 and NMY-2 in wild-type embryos and the localization of UNC-45 in *nmy-2* (RNAi) embryos. A to C are wild-type embryos stained with anti-UNC-45 antibody (7N5) at 2-cell, 4-cell and >8-cell stages, showing its concentration at the cell boundaries. D to F are the same embryos as A to C but stained with anti-NMY-2 antibody, showing NMY-2 is also concentrated at the cell boundaries. G to I are the same embryos as A to C but double-stained with anti-UNC-45 and anti-NMY-2 antibodies. J to L are NMY-2-depleted embryos by RNAi stained with anti-UNC-45 antibody (7N5) at 2-cell, 4-cell and >8-cell stages, showing that the concentration of UNC-45 at the cell boundaries is disrupted. Bar, 10  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 3.22 Comparison of UNC-45, CeUFD2 and T09B4** Black boxes indicate the UFD2 homology region and the gray boxes indicate the tetratricopeptide repeats.



**Figure 3.23 CeUFD2::GFP is expressed in nerve cells.** A, B and C, GFP expression in nerve cells. D and E, DIC images of the same part as A and B (DIC image is not available for C). Arrows indicate amphid process bundles in the head (A), probably PLM or PHB in the tail (B) and the ventral cord (C).

114



Figure 3.24 CeUFD2::GFP is expressed in the intestine. A, DIC image of an adult worm. B, CeUFD2::GFP expression in the gut of the same worm. C, merged image of A and B.



Figure 4.1. A model for UNC-45 function (please see the legend on next page).

**Figure 4.1. A model for UNC-45 function.** UNC-45 is required for the initiation of thick filament assembly in the early stages of development. It may function as a catalyst to modify MHC B (and/or MHC A) before assembly or directly participate in the assembly itself. In the case of UNC-45 amber mutations, UNC-45 cannot function properly and causes embryonic lethality. Later, UNC-45 is localized to thick filaments in the same patterns as MHC B. In the adult, UNC-45 normally functions as a stabilizer for MHC B. In animals carrying UNC-45 missense mutations in the CRO1/SHE4 domain at the restrictive temperature, MHC B turnover is increased, either due to inherent MHC B instability on the thick filament or an inability to properly assemble MHC B into the thick filament, followed by increased turnover of unassembled MHC B.

MHC A	T <mark>FILEULOUS</mark> ACEELUUZELUUTIILOEEIIVEKATIMTYAQKILD-QHIGKHENFQKEKPEKGKQGDAHEAIV	608
MHC B	VEI ER ELLE ACHEMINE BLEICHMILLE IV KATELTLASKEVD-QHIGKHINFEKEKPPKGKQGEAHEAMR	580
NMY - 2	- IL HEINE PTIDE DE MEMERATIN DV LFIQGN QSFVQRINN-THS-QHIKYVVIEIRSRSD AVV	604
HUM - 2	VRV - HIN, PALDER G V MINLE EQ KRLNGS ADWLSQLQNSTELKRN QLAFE KVRSND I VR	608
	* *	
мнс а	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	675
MHC A MHC B	* ************************************	675 647
MHC A MHC B NMY-2	* ************************************	675 647 677

**Figure 4.2 Sequence alignment of potential UBS sites in myosins.** The shaded amino acids are identical in three or four of the four proteins. Broken lines indicate gaps and asterisks indicate the amino acids in MHC A that are different from those in the three other myosins.



**Figure 4.3 The ubiquitination pathway.** Ubiquitin (Ub) is activated by the ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1) and then transferred to the substrate by a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2). E3 is required for some substrate recognition and E4 is a newly identified protein required for efficient multiubiquitin chain assembly. The conjugated substrate is degraded into peptides by the 26S proteasome.

7. Tables

Locus	Protein encoded	References
	(C. clegans homologues)	
act-1 to act-5	actin	Files et al., 1983; Krause and Hirsh, 1987
atn-1	alpha-actinin	Barstead et al., 1991
deh-1	vinculin	Barstead and Waterston, 1989 and 1991
emb-9	collagen Type IV	Guo and Kramer, 1989; Guo et al., 1991; Sibley, et al., 1994
etr-1	related to ELAV	Milne and Hodgkin, 1999
hlh-l	myoD	Chen et al., 1994; Krause et al., 1994
hlh-8	Twist	Corsi, et al., 2000
hsp-25	heat shock protein	Ding and Candido, 2000
lev-11	tropomyosin	Kagawa et al., 1995 and 1997
let-2	collagen Type IV	Guo and Kramer, 1989; Sibley, et al., 1994
mic-1	regulatory myosin light chain	Rushforth, et al., 1993 and 1998
mic-2	regulatory myosin light chain	Rushforth, ct al., 1993 and 1998
myo-l	myosin heavy chain C	Miller et al., 1986
myo-2	mycoin heavy chain D	Miller et al., 1986
myo-3	myosin heavy chain A	Waterston, 1989; Miller et al., 1986; Albertson, 1985
mup-2	Troponin T	Myers, et al., 1996
pat-2	alpha-integrin	Williams and Waterston, 1994
pat-3	beta-integrin	Gettner et al., 1995
pat-10	troponin C	Williams and Waterston, 1994; Terami et al., 1999
unc-15	paramyosin	Mackenzie, and Epstein, 1980; Kagawa et al., 1989
unc-22	twitchin (titin)	Moerman et al., 1988; Benian et al., 1989
unc-45	TPR and CRO-1/She4 domains	Venolia et al., 1999
unc-52	perlecan	Rogalski, ct al., 1993
unc-54	myosin heavy chain B	Mackenzie, et al., 1978; Bejsovec and Anderson, 1988
unc-60	cofilin similarity	McKim, et al., 1994; Ono et al., 1999
unc-68	ryanodine receptor	Maryon, ct al., 1998
unc-87	calponin	Goetinck and Waterston, 1994a and 1994b
unc-89	related to UNC-22	Benian, et al., 1989 and 1996
unc-93	putative trans-membrane protein	Levin and Horvitz, 1992
unc-97	LIM protein	Hobert, et al., 1999
unc-112	FERM protein	Rogalski, ct al., 2000

Table 1.1 C. elegans genes affecting muscle development for which protein products are known

## Table 3.1: Muscle cell types and UNC-45 and MHC isoform expression

Muscle cell types	Proteins	References
Body wall muscles	UNC-45	This work
	myosin heavy chain A	Miller, et al; 1983
	myosin heavy chain B	Miller, et al; 1983
Pharyngeal muscles	UNC-45	This work
	myosin heavy chain C	Epstein et al 1982; Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
	myosin heavy chain D	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
Anal-intestinal muscles	UNC-45	This work
	myosin heavy chain A	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
	myosin heavy chain B	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
Sex-specific muscles	UNC-45	This work
	myosin heavy chain A	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
	myosin heavy chain B	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
Gonadal contractile muscles	UNC-45	This work
	myosin heavy chain A	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987
	myosin heavy chain B	Ardizzi and Epstein, 1987

٠

- Albertson, D. G. 1985. Mapping muscle protein genes by *in situ* hybridization using biotin-labeled probes. *EMBO J.*, 4: 2493-2498.
- Ahnn, J., and Fire, A. 1994. A screen for genetic loci required for body wall muscle development during embryogenesis in *C. elegans. Genetics*, 137: 483-498.
- Anant, S., Roy, S., and VijayRaghavan, K. 1998. Twist and Notch negatively regulate adult muscle differentiation in *Drosophila*. *Development.*, 125: 1361-1369.
- Ardizzi, J. P., and Epstein, H. F. 1987. Immunochemical localization of myosin heavy chain isoforms and paramyosin in developmentally and structurally diverse muscle cell types of the nematode C. elegans. J. Cell Biol., 105: 2763-2770.
- Arrizubieta, N. J., and Bandman, E. 1998. The role of interhelical ionic interactions in myosin rod assembly. *Biochem. Biphys. Res. Commun.*, 244: 588-593.
- Ausubel, F.M, Brent, R., Kingston, R. E., Moore, D. D., Smith, J. A., Seidman, J.G., and Struhl, K., editors. 1991. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. 1,600 pp.
- Bahler, M. 2000. Are class III and class IX myosin motorized signaling molecules? Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1496: 52-59.
- Baker, J. P., and Titus, M. A. 1997. A family of unconventional myosin from the nematode *C. elegans. J. Mol. Biol.*, 272: 523-535.
- Barral, J. M., Bauer, C. C., Ortiz, I., and Epstein, H. F. 1998. Unc-45 mutations in Caenorhabditis elegans implicates a CRO1/She4p-like domain in myosin assembly. J. Cell Biol., 143: 1215-1225.
- Barral, J. M., and Epstein, H. F. 1999. Protein machines and self assembly in muscle

organization. BioEssays, 21: 813-823.

- Barstead, R. J., Kleiman, L., and Waterston, R. H. 1991. Cloning, sequencing and mapping of an alpha-actinin gene from the nematode C. elegans. Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton, 20: 69-78.
- Barstead, R. J., and Waterston, R. H. 1989. The basal component of the nematode densebody is vinculin. J. Biol. Chem., 264: 10177-10185.
- Barstead, R. J., and Waterston, R. H. 1991. Vinculin is essential for muscle function in the nematode. J. Cell Biol., 114: 715-724.
- Barylko, B., Binns, D. D., and Albanesi, J. P. 2000. Regulation of the enzyme and motor activities of myosin I. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1496: 23-35.
- Bejsovec, A., and Anderson, R. P. 1988. Myosin heavy chain mutations that disrupt C. elegans thick filament assembly. Genes Dev., 2: 1307-1317.
- Bejsovec, A., and Anderson, P. 1990. Functions of the myosin ATP and actin binding sites are required for *C. elegans* thick filament assembly. *Cell*, 60: 133-40.
- Benian, G. M., Kiff, J. E., Neckelmann, N., Moerman, D. G., and Waterston, R. H. 1989.
  Sequence of an unusually large protein implicated in regulation of myosin activity in *C. elegans. Nature*, 342: 45-50.
- Benian, G. M., L'Hernault, S. W., and Morris, M. E. 1993. Additional sequence complexity in the muscle gene, unc-22, and its encoded protein, twitchin, of C. elegans. Genetics, 134: 1097-1104.

Benian, G. M., Tinley, T. L., Tang, X., and Borodovsky, M. 1996. The Caenorhabditis

elegans gene unc-89, required for muscle M-line assembly, encodes a giant modular protein composed of Ig and signal transduction domains. J. Cell Biol., 132: 835-848.

- Bernstein, S. I., Mogami, K., Donady, J. J., and Emerson, C. P. Jr. 1983. *Drosophila* muscle myosin heavy chain encoded by a single gene in a cluster of muscle mutations. *Nature*, 302(5907): 393-397.
- Berteaux-Lecellier, V., Zickler, D., Debuchy, R., Panvier-Adoutte, A., Thompson-Coffe, C., and Picard, M. 1998. A homologue of the yeast SHE4 gene is essential for the transition between the syncytial and cellular stages during sexual reproduction of the fungus Podospora anserina. EMBO J., 17: 1248-1258
- Bertrand, E., Chartrand, P., Schaefer, M., Shenoy, S. M., Singer, R. H., and Long, R. M. 1998. Localization of *ASH1* mRNA particles in living yeast. *Mol. Cell*, 2: 437-445.
- Black, B. L., Ligon, K. L., Zhang, Y., and Olson, E. N. 1996. Cooperative transcriptional activation by the neurogenic basic helix-loop-helix protein MASH1 and members of the myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2) family. J. Biol. Chem., 271: 26659-26663.
- Black, B. L., and Olson, E. 1998. Transcriptional control of muscle development by myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF-2) proteins. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol., 14: 167-196.
- Blatch, G. L., and Lassle, M. 1999. The tetratricopeptide repeat: a structural motif mediating protein-protein interactions. *BioEssays*, 21: 932-939.

Bobola, N., Jansen, R. P., Shin, T. H., and Nasmyth, K. 1996. Asymmetric accumulation

of Ash1p in post-anaphase nuclei depends on a myosin and restricts yeast matingtype switching to mother cells. *Cell*, 84: 699-709.

- Braun, T., Buschhausen-Denker, Kotz, S., Grzeschik, K., and Arnold, H. 1989a.
  Differential expression of myogenic determination genes in muscle cells: possible autoactivation by the *Myf* gene products. *EMBO J.*, 8: 3617-3625.
- Braun, T., Buschhausen-Denker, G., Bober, E., Tannich, E., and Arnold, H. 1989b. A novel human muscle factor related to but distinct from MyoD1 induces myogenic conversion in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. *EMBO J.*, 8: 701-709.
- Braun, T., Bober,, E., Winter, B., Rosenthal, N., and Arnold, H. 1990. Myf-6, a new member of the human gene family of myogenic determination factors: evidence for a gene cluster on chromosome 12. EMBO J., 9: 821-831.

Brenner, S. 1973. The genetics of behavior. British Medical Bulletin, 29: 269-271.

Brenner, S. 1974. The genetics of C. elegans. Genetics, 77: 71-94.

- Bresnick, A. R. 1999. Molecular mechanisms of non-muscle myosin-II regulation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol., 1: 26-33.
- Chalfie, M. Tu, Y., Euskirchen, G., Ward, W. W., and Prasher, D. C. 1994. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. *Science*, 263: 802-805.
- Chandarlapaty, S., and Errede, B. 1998. Ash1, a daughter cell-specific protein, is required for pseudohyphal growth of *S. cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 18: 2884-1891.
- Chen, L., Krause, M., Draper, B., Weintraub, H., and Fire, A. 1992. Body-wall muscle formation in *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryos that lack the MyoD homologue *hlh-1. Science*, 256: 240-243.

Chen, L., Krause, M., Sepanski, M., and Fire, A. 1994. The Caenorhabditis elegans
MYOD homologue HLH-1 is essential for proper muscle function and complete morphogenesis. *Development*, 120: 1631-1641.

- Ciechanover, A., Orian, A., and Schwartz, A. L. 2000. Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis: biological regulation via destruction. *BioEssays*, 22: 442-451.
- Corsi, A. K., Kostas, S. A., Fire, A., and Krause, M. 2000. *C. elegans* Twist plays an essential role in non-striated muscle development. *Development*, 127: 2041-2051.
- Cowan, A. E., and Macintosh, J. R. 1985. Mapping the distribution of differentiation potential for intestine, muscle, and hypodermis during early development in C. elegans. Cell, 41: 923-932.
- Cramer, L. P. 2000. Myosin VI: Roles for a minus end-directed actin motor in cells. J. Cell Biol., 18: F121-F126.
- Cripps, R. M., Suggs, J. A., and Bernstein, S. I. 1999. Assembly of thick filaments and myofibrils occurs in the absence of the myosin head. *EMBO J.*, 18: 1793-1804.
- Das, A. K., Cohen, P. T. W., and Barford, D. 1998. The structure of the tetratricopeptide repeats of protein phosphatase 5: implications for TPR-mediated protein-protein interactions. *EMBO J.*, 17:1192-1199.
- Davis, R. L., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. 1987. Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. *Cell*, 51: 987-1000.
- Davis, M. B., Dietz, J., Standiford, D. M., and Emerson, Jr., C. P. 1998. Transposable element insertions specify alternative exon splicing in three *Drosophila* myosin heavy chain mutants. *Genetics*, 150: 1105-1114.

de Bono, M., and Hodgkin, J. 1996. Evolution of sex determination in Caenorhabditis:

usually high divergence of *tra-1* and its functional consequences. *Genetics*, 144: 587-595.

- Deitiker, P. R., and Epstein, H. F. 1993. Thick filament substructures in Caenorhabditis elegans: Evidence of two populations of paramyosin. J. Cell Biol., 123:303-311.
- Dibb, N. J., Brown, D. M., Karn, J., Moerman, D. G., Bolten, S. L., and Waterston, R. H.
  1985. Sequence analysis of mutations that affect the synthesis, assembly and enzymatic activity of the *unc-54* myosin heavy chain of *Caenorhabditis elegans*.
  J. Mol. Biol., 183: 543-551.
- Dibb, N. J., Maruyama, I. N., Krause, M., and Karn, J. 1989. Sequence analysis of the complete C. elegans myosin heavy chain gene family. J. Mol. Biol., 205: 603-613.
- Dichoso, D., Brodigan, T., Chwoe, K. Y., Lee, J. S., Llacer, R., Park, M., Corsi, A. K., Kostas, S. A., Fire, A., Ahnn, J., and Krause, M. 2000. The MADS-box factor CeMEF2 is not essential for *C. elegans* myogenesis and development. *Dev. Biol.*, 223: 431-440.
- Ding, L., and Candido, E. P. M. 2000. HSP25, a small heat shock protein associated with dense body and M-line of body wall muscle in C. elegans. J. Biol. Chem., 275: 9510-9517.
- Durfee, T., Becherer, K., Chen, P-L, Yeh, S-H, Yang, Y., Kiburn, A. E., Lee, W-H, and Elledge, S. J. 1993. The retinoblastoma protein associates with the protein phosphatase type 1 catalytic subunit. *Genes Dev.*, 7: 555-569.

Edmonson, D., and Olson, E. 1989. A gene with homology to the myc similarity region

of MyoD1 is expressed during myogenesis and is sufficient to activate the muscle differentiation program. *Genes Dev.*, 3: 628-640.

Elledge, S. J., Mulligan, J. T., Ramer, S. W., Spottswood, M., and Davis, R. W.
1991. λYES: A multifunctional cDNA expression vector for the isolation of genes by complementation of yeast and *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA)*, 88: 1731-1735.

- Epstein, H. F., and Fischman, D. 1991. Molecular analysis of protein assembly in muscle development. *Science*, 251: 1039-1044.
- Epstein, H. F., Ortiz, I., and Mackinnon, L. A. 1986. The alteration of myosin isoform compartmentation in specific mutants of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Cell Biol., 103: 985-993.
- Epstein, H. F., and Thomson, J. N. 1974. Temperature-sensitive mutation affecting myofilament assembly in *C. elegans. Nature*, 250: 579-580.
- Epstein, H. F., Waterston, R. H., and Brenner, S. 1974. A mutant affecting the heavy chain of myosin in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Mol. Biol., 90: 291-300.
- Epstein, H. F., Miller, D. M., Ortiz, I., and Berlier, G. C. 1985. Myosin and paramyosin are organized about a newly identified core structure. J. Cell Biol., 100: 904-915.
- Epstein, H. F., Casey, D. L., and Ortiz, I. 1993. Myosin and paramyosin of *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryos assemble into nascent structures distinct from thick filaments and multi-filament assemblages. J. Cell Biol., 122: 845-858.

Epstein, H. F., Liu, G. Y., Deitiker, P. R., Oritiz, I., and Schmid, M. F. 1995. Preliminary

three-dimension model for nematode thick filament core. J. Struct. Biol., 155: 163-174.

- Fields, S., and Sternglanz, R. 1994. The two-hybrid system: an assay for protein-protein interactions. *Trends Genet.*, 10: 286-292.
- Finney, M., and Ruvkun, G. 1990. The *unc-86* gene product couples cell lineage and cell identity in *C. elegans. Cell*, 63: 895-905.
- Files, J. G., Carr, S., and Hirsh, D. 1983. Actin gene family of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Mol. Biol., 164: 355-375.
- Fire, A., Harrison, S. W., and Dixon, D. 1990. A modular set of *lacZ* fusion vectors for studying gene expression in *C. elegans. Gene*, 93: 189-198.
- Fischer, J. A. 2000. Molecular motors and developmental asymmetry. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev., 10: 489-496.
- Franscis, G. R., and Waterston, R. H. 1985. Muscle organization in *Caenorhabditis* elegans: localization of proteins implicated in thin filament attachment and I-band organization. J. Cell Biol., 101: 1532-1549.
- Geeves, M. A., and Holmes, K. C. 1999. Structural mechanism of muscle contraction. Annu. Rev. Biochem., 68: 687-782.
- George, E. L., Ober, M. B., and Emerson, C. P. Jr. 1989. Functional domains of the Drosophila melanogaster muscle myosin heavy-chain gene are encoded by alternatively spliced exons. Mol. Cell. Biol., 9: 2957-2974.
- Gettner, S. N., Kenyon, C., and Reichardt, L. F. 1995. Characterization of beta pat-3 heterodimers, a family of essential integrin receptors in *C. elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 129: 1127-1141.

- Gietz, R. D., and Schiestl, R. H. 1995. Transforming yeast with DNA. Methods Mol. Cell Biol., 5: 255-269.
- Goebel, M., and M. Yanagida. 1991. The TPR snap helix: a novel protein repeat motif from mitosis to transcription. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, 16: 173-177.
- Goetinck, S., and Waterston, R. H. 1994a. The *Caenorhabditis elegans* UNC-87 protein is essential for maintenance, but not assembly, of body wall muscle. *J. Cell Biol.*, 127: 71-78.
- Goetinck, S., and Waterston, R. H. 1994b. The *Caenorhabditis elegans* muscleaffecting gene *unc-87* encodes a novel thin filament-associated protein. J. Cell Biol., 127: 79-93.
- Golden, A. 2000. Cytoplasmic flow and the establishment of polarity in *C. elegans* 1-cell embryos. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.*, 10: 414-420.
- Goldstein, B., and Hird, S. N. 1996. Specification of the anteroposterior axis in C. elegans. Development, 122: 1227-1236.
- Gordon, A. M., Homsher, E., and Regnier, M. 2000. Regulation of contraction in striated muscle. *Physiol. Rev.*, 80: 853-924.
- Gregorio, C. C., Granzier, H., Sorimachi, H., and Labeit, S. 1999. Muscle assembly: a titanic achievement. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, 11: 18-25
- Gregorio, C. C., and Antin, P. B. 2000. To the heart of myofibril assembly. *Trends Cell Biol.*, 10: 355-362.
- Guo, S., and Kemphues, K. J. 1996. A non-muscle myosin required for embryonic polarity in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 382: 455-458.

Haarer, B. K., Petzold, A., Lillie, S. H., and Brown, S. S. 1994. Identification of

MYO4, a second class V myosin gene in yeast. J. Cell Sci., 107: 1055-1064.

- Hansen, D., and Pilgrim, D. 1998. Molecular evolution of a sex determination protein: FEM-2 (PP2C) in *Caenorhabditis*. *Genetics*, 149: 1353-1362.
- Harfe, B. D., Branda, C. S., Krause, M., Stern, M. J., and Fire, A. 1998a. MyoD and the specification of muscle and non-muscle fates during postembyonic development of the *C. elegans* mesoderm. *Development*, 125: 2479-2488.
- Harfe, B. D., Vaz Gomes, A., Kenyon, C., Liu, J., Krause, M., and Fire, A. 1998b Analysis of a *C. elegans* Twist homolog identifies conserved and divergent apsects of mesodermal patterning. *Genes Dev.*, 12: 2623-2635.
- Harrington, W. F., 1979. Contractile proteins in muscle. In *The proteins* (ed. H. Neurath),3: 246-409, Academic Press, New York.
- Hasson, T., Gillespie, P. G., Garcia, J. A., MacDonald, R. B., Zhao, Y. D., Yee, A. G., Mooseker, M. S., and Corey, D. P. 1997. Unconventional myosin in inner-ear sensory epithelia. J. Cell Biol., 137: 1287-1307.
- Hasty, P., Bradley, A., Morris, J., Edmonson, D. Venuti., J., Olson, E., and Klein, W.
  1993. Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the *myogenin* gene. *Nature*, 264: 501-506.
- Hill, D. P., and Strome, S. 1988. An analysis of the role of microfilaments in the establishment and maintenance of asymmetry in *C. elegans* zygotes. *Dev. Biol.*, 125: 75-84.
- Hird, S. N., Paulsen, J. E., and Strome, S. 1996. Segregation of germ granules in living C. elegans embryos: Cell-type-specific mechanisms for cytoplasmic localization. Development, 122: 1303-1312.

- Hobert, O., Moerman, D. G., Clark, K. A., Beckerle, M. C., and Ruvkun, G. 1999. A conserved LIM protein that affects muscular adherens junction integrity and mechanosensory function in *Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 144: 45-57.
- Hochstrasser, M. 1996. Ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation. Annu. Rev. Genet., 30: 405-439.
- Hodges, D., Cripps, R. M., O'Connor, M. E., and Berstein, S. I. 1999. The role of evolutionarily conserved sequences in alternative splicing at the 3' end of *Drosophila melanogaster* myosin heavy chain RNA. *Genetics*, 151: 263-276.
- Holtzer, H., Hijikata, T., Lin, Z. X., Zhang, Z. Q., Holtzer, S., Protsai, F., Franzini-Armstrong, C., and Sweeney, H. L. 1997. Independent assembly of 1.6 microns long bipolar MHC filaments and I-Z-I bodies. *Cell Struct. Funct.*, 22: 83-93.
- Hoppe, P. E., and Waterston, R. H. 1996. Hydrophobicity variations along the surface of the coiled-coil rod may mediate striated muscle myosin assembly in *C. elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 135: 371-382.
- Hopwood, N. D., Pluck, A., and Gurdon, J. B. 1989. A Xenopus mRNA related to Drosophila twist is expressed in response to induction in the mesoderm and the neural crest. Cell, 59: 893-903.
- Hresko, M. C., Williams, B. D., and Waterston, R. H. 1994. Assembly of body wall muscle and muscle cell attachment structures in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Cell Biol., 124: 491-506.
- Hresko, C. M., Schriefer, L. A., Schrimankar, P., and Waterston, R. H. 1999. Myotactin, a novel hypodermal protein involved in muscle-cell adhesion in *C. elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 146: 659-672.

- James, P., Halladay, J., and Craig, E. A. 1996. Genomic libraries and a host strain designed for highly efficient two-hybrid selection in yeast. *Genetics*, 144: 1425-1436.
- Jansen, R., Dowzer, C., Michaelis, C., Galova, M., and Nasmyth, K. 1996. Mother cell-specific HO expression in budding yeast depends on the unconventional myosin Myo4p and other cytoplasmic proteins. Cell, 84: 687-697.
- Jentsch, S. 1992. The ubiquitin-conjugation system. Annu. Rev. Genet., 26: 179-207.
- Jentsch, S., and Pyrowolakis, G. 2000. Ubiquitin and its kin: how close are the family ties? *Trends Cell Biol.*, 10: 335-341.
- Johnson, E. S., Ma, P. C. M., Ota, I. M., and Varshavsky, A. 1995. A proteolytic pathway that recognizes ubiquitin as a degradation signal. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 270: 17442-17456.
- Johnson, K. A., and Quiocho, F. A. 1996. Twitching worms catch S100. Nature, 380: 585-586.
- Kagawa, H., Gengyo, K., McLachlan, A. D., Brenner, S., and Karn, J. 1989. Paramyosin gene (unc-15) of Caenorhabditis elegans: molecular cloning, nucleotide sequences and models for thick filament structure. J. Mol. Biol., 207: 311-333.
- Kagawa, H., Sugimoto, K., Matsumoto, H., Inoue, T., Imadzu, H., Takuwa, K., and Sakube, Y. 1995. Genome structure, mapping and expression of the tropomyosin gene *tmy-1* of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Mol. Biol., 251: 603-13.
- Kagawa, H., Takuwa, K., and Sakube, Y. 1997. Mutations and expressions of the tropomyosin gene and the troponin C gene of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Cell Struct. Funct.*, 22: 213-8.

- Karn, J., Brenner, S., and Barnett, L. 1983. Protein structural domains in the C. elegans unc-54 myosin heavy chain gene are not separated by introns. Proc. Natl., Acad. Sci. (USA), 80: 4253-4257.
- Kelleher, J. F., Moulder, G., Barstead, R., and Titus, M. A. 1999. Myosin VI is required for organelle transport during spermatogenesis in *C. elegans. Mol. Biol. Cell*, 10S: 164a.
- Kelly, W. G., Xu, S., Montgomery, M. K., and Fire, A. 1997. Distinct requirements for somatic and germline expression of a generally expressed *Caenorhabditis elegans* gene. *Genetics*, 146: 227-238.
- Kemphues, K. J., Priess, J. R., Morton, D. G., and Cheng, N. 1988. Identification of genes required for cytoplasmic localization in early *C. elegans* embryos. *Cell*, 52: 311-320
- Kemphues, K. J. 1989. Caenorhabditis. In Frontiers in molecular biology: Genes and embryos (ed. D. M. Glover and E. D. Hames), pp. 95-126. IRL Press, London.
- Kemphues, K. J., and Strome, S. 1997. Fertilization and establishment of polarity in the embryo. In "C. elegans II". Riddle, D. L., Blumenthal, T., Meyer, B. J. and Priess, J. R., editors. Cold Spring Harbor, New York, Cold Spring Harbor Press. 335-359.
- Kirby, C., Kusch, M., and Kemphues, K. J. 1990. Mutations in the par genes of C.
  elegans affect cytoplasmic reorganization during the first cell cycle. Dev. Biol., 142: 203-215.

Koegl, M., Hoppe, T. Schelenker, S. Ulrich, H. D. Mayer, T., and Jentsch, S. 1999. A

novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. *Cell*, 96: 635-644.

- Krause, M., and Hirsh, D. 1987. A trans-spliced leader sequence on actin mRNA in C. elegans. Cell, 49: 753-761.
- Krause M., Fire, A., Harrison, S. W., Priess, J., and Weintraub, H. 1990. CeMyoD accumulation defines the body wall muscle cell fate during *C. elegans* embryogenesis. *Cell*, 63: 907-919.
- Krause, M., and Weintraub, H. 1992. CeMyoD expression and myogenesis in C. elegans. Seminars in Developmental Biology, 3: 277-285.
- Krause, M., Fire, A., White-Harrison, S., Weintraub, H., and Tapscott, S. 1992.
  Functional conservation of nematode and vertebrate myogenic regulatory factors.
  J. Cell Science, Supplement, 16: 111-115.
- Krause, M., Harrison, S. W., Xu, S. Q., Chen, L. and Fire, A. 1994. Elements regulating cell- and stage-specific expression of the C. elegans MyoD family homolog hlh-1. Dev. Biol., 166: 133-148.
- Levin, J. Z., and Horvitz, H. R. 1992. The C. elegans unc-93 gene encodes a putative transmembrane protein that regulates muscle contraction. J. Cell Biol., 117: 143-155.
- Liu, F., Barral, J. M., Bauer, C. C., Oritz, I., Cook, R. G. Schmid, M. F., and Epstein,
  H. F. 1997. Assemblases and coupling proteins in thick filament assembly. *Cell* Struct. Funct., 22: 155-162.

Liu, F., Bauer, C. C., Ortiz, I., Cook, R. G., Schmid, M. F., and Epstein, H. F. 1998.

 $\beta$ -filagenin, a newly identified protein coassembling with myosin and paramyosin in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Cell Biol., 140: 347-353.

- Long, R. M., Singer, R. H., Meng, X., Gonzales, I., Nasmyth, K., and Jansen, R.-P. 1997. Mating type switching in yeast controlled by asymmetrical localization of ASH1 mRNA. Science, 277: 383-387.
- Mackenzie, J. M., Schachat, F., and Epstein, H. F. 1978. Immunocytochemical localization of two myosins within the same muscle cells in *C. elegans. Cell*, 15: 413-420.
- Mackenzie, J. M., and Epstein, H. F. 1980. Paramyosin is necessary for determination of nematode thick filament length *in vivo*. *Cell*, 22: 747-755.
- MacLeod, A. R., Karn, J., and Brenner, S. 1981. Molecular analysis of the *unc-54* myosin heavy chain gene of *C. elegans. Nature*, 291: 386-390.
- Madden, K., and Snyder, M. 1998. Cell polarity and morphogenesis in budding yeast. Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 52: 687-744.
- Maduro, M., and Pilgrim, D. B. 1996. Conservation of function and expression of unc-119 from two Caenorhabditis species despite divergence of non-coding DNA. Gene, 183: 77-85.
- Maruyama, I. N., Miller, D. M., and Brenner, S. 1989. Myosin heavy chain gene amplification as a suppressor mutation in *C. elegans. Mol. Gen. Genet.* 219: 113-118.
- Maryon, E. B., Saari, B., and Anderson, P. 1998. Muscle-specific functions of ryanodine receptor channel in *C. elegans*. J. Cell Sci., 111: 2885-2895.

Mastaglia, F. L., and Laing, N. G. 1996. Investigation of muscle disease. J. Neuro.

Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 60: 256-274.

- McKim, K. S., Matheson, C., Marra, M. A., Wakarchuk, M. F., and Bailie, D. L. 1994. The C. elegans unc-60 gene encodes proteins homologous to a family of actinbinding protein. Mol. Gen. Genet., 242: 346-357.
- Mello, C., Kramer, J. M., Stinchcomb, D., and Ambros, V. 1991. Efficient gene transfer in *C. elegans*: extrachromosomal maintenance and integration of transforming sequences. *EMBO J.*, 10: 3959-3970.
- Melville, M. W., Katze, M. G., and Tan, S. L. 2000. P58IPK, a novel co-chaperone containing tetratricopeptide repeats and a J-domain with oncogenic potential. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.*, 57: 311-322.
- Mermall, V., McNally, J. G., and Miller, K. G. 1994. Transport of cytoplasmic particles catalysed by an unconventional myosin in living *Drosophila* embryos. *Nature*, 369(6481): 560-562.
- Miller, D. M., Ortiz, I., Berliner, G. C., and Epstein, H. F. 1983. Differential localization of two myosins within nematode thick filaments. *Cell*, 34: 477-490.
- Miller, D. M., Stockdale F. E., and Karn, J. 1986. Immunological identification of the genes encoding the four myosin heavy chain isoforms of *C. elegans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA)*, 83: 2305-2309.
- Miller, D. M., and Shakes, D. C. 1995. Immunofluorescence microscopy. In
  "Caenorhabditis elegans: modern biological analysis of an organism" (H. F. Epstein, H.F. and D.C. Shakes, Eds.), pp. 365-394. Academic Press, San Diego.

Milne, C. A., and Hodgkin, J. 1999. ETR-1, a homologue of a protein linked to myotonic

dystrophy, is essential for muscle development in C. elegans. Curr. Biol., 9: 1243-1246.

- Miner, J., and Wold, B. 1989. Herculin, a fourth member of the MyoD family of myogenic regulatory genes. *Proc. Natl., Acad. Sci. (USA)*, 87: 1089-1093.
- Moerman, D. G., Plurad, S, Waterston, R. H., and Baillie, D. L. 1982. Mutations in the unc-54 myosin heavy chain gene of *Caenorhabditis elegans* that alter contractility but not muscle structure. *Cell*, 29: 773-781.
- Moerman, D. G., Benian, G. M., and Waterston, R. H. 1986. Molecular cloning of the muscle gene unc-22 in C. elegans by Tc1 transposon tagging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA), 83: 2579-2583.
- Moerman, D. G., Benian, G. M., Barstead, R. J., Schreifer, L., and Waterston, R. H. 1988. Identification and intercellular localization of the *unc-22* gene product of *C*. *elegans. Genes Dev.*, 2: 93-105.
- Moerman, D. G., and A. Fire. 1997. Muscle: structure, function and development.
  In "C. elegans II". Riddle, D. L., Blumenthal, T., Meyer, B. J. and Priess, J. R., editors. Cold Spring Harbor, New York, Cold Spring Harbor Press. 417-470.
- Moores, S. L., and Spudich, J. A. 1998. Conditional loss-of-myosin-II-function mutants reveal a position in the tail that is critical for filament nucleation. *Mol. Cell*, 1: 1043-1050.
- Mooseker, M. S., and Cheney, R. E. 1995. Unconventional myosins. Annu. Rev. Dev. Biol., 11: 633-675.
- Morgan, N. S. 1995. The myosin superfamily in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Exp. Zool., 273: 104-117.

- Mullen, G. P., Rogalski, T. M., Bush, J. A., Gorji, P. R., and Moerman, D. G. 1999. Complex patterns of alternative splicing mediate spatial and temporal distribution of perlecan/UNC-52 in *C. elegans. Mol. Biol. Cell*, 10: 3205-3221.
- Munchow, S., Sauter, C., and Jansen, R. P. 1999. Association of the class V myosinMyo4p with a localized message RNA in budding yeast depends on She proteins.J. Cell Sci., 112: 1511-1518.
- Myers, C. D., Goh, P. Y., Allen, T. S., Bucher, E. A., and Bogaert, T. 1996.
   Developmental genetic analysis of troponin T mutations in striated and nonstriated muscle cells of *Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 132: 1061-1077.
- Nabeshima, Y., Hanaoka, K., Hayasake, M., Esumi, E., Li., S., Nokana, L., and Nabeshima, Y. 1993. *Myogenin* gene disruption results in perinatal lethality because of severe muscle defect. *Nature*, 364: 532-535.
- Nasmyth, K. 1993. Regulating the HO endonuclease in yeast. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev., 3: 286-94.
- Naya, F. J., and Olson, E. 1999. MEF2: a transcriptional target for signaling pathways controlling skeletal muscle growth and differentiation. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, 11: 683-688.
- Nonaka, I. 1998. Animal models of muscular dystrophies. Lab Animal Science, 48: 8-17.
- Ono, S., Baillie, D. L., and Benian, G. M. 1999. UNC-60B, an ADF/cofilin family protein, is required for proper assembly of actin into myofibrils in *C. elegans* body wall muscle. *J. Cell Biol.*, 145: 491-502.
- Page, A. P., and Winter, A. D. 1998. A divergent multi-domain cyclophilin is highly

conserved between parasitic and free-living nematode species and is important in larval muscle development. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitology*, 95: 215-227.

- Perry, R. L. S., and Rudnicki, M. A., 2000. Molecular mechanism regulating myogenic determination and differentiation. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 5: d750-767.
- Phizicky, E. M., and Fields, S. 1995. Protein-protein interactions: methods for detection and analysis. *Microbiol. Rev.*, 59: 94-123.
- Pilgrim, D. B. 1993. The Genetic and RFLP Characterization of the Left End of Linkage Group III in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genome*, 36: 712-724.
- Plenefisch, J. D., Zhu, X., and Hedgecock, E. M. 2000. Fragile skeletal muscle attachments in dystrophic mutants of *C. elegans*: isolation and characterization of the *mua* genes. *Development*, 127: 1197-1207.
- Priess, J. R., and Thomson, J. N. 1987. Cellular interactions in early C. elegans embryos. Cell, 48: 241-255.
- Pukatzki, S., Tordilla, N., Franke, J., and Kessin, R. H. 1998. A novel component involved in ubiquitination is required for development of *Dictyostelium* discoideum. J. Biol. Chem., 273: 24131-24138.
- Rappleye, C. A., Paredez, A. R., Smith, C. W., McDonald, K. L., and Aroian, R. V. 1999. The coronin-like protein POD-1 is required for anterior-posterior axis formation and cellular architecture in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genes Dev.*, 13: 2838-2851.
- Reck-Paterson, S. L., Provance Jr., D. W., Mooseker, M. S., and Mercer, J. A. 2000. Class V myosins. *Biochim. Biphys. Acta*, 1496: 36-51.

Rhodes, S., and Konieczny, S. 1989. Identification of MRF4; a new member of the

muscle regulatory factor gene family. Genes Dev., 3: 2050-2061.

- Riddle, D. L., and S. Brenner. 1978. Indirect suppression in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Genetics, 89: 299-314.
- Rodriguez, O. C., and Cheney, R. E. 2000. A new direction for myosin. *Trends Cell Biol.*, 10: 307-311.
- Rogalski, T. M., Williams, B. D., Mullen, G. P., and Moerman, D. G. 1993. Products of the unc-52 gene in C. elegans are homologous to the core protein of the mammalian basement membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycan, Genes Dev., 7: 1471-1484.
- Rogalski, T. M., Gilchrist, E. J., Mullen, G. P., and Moerman, D. G. 1995. Mutations in the *unc-52* gene responsible for body wall muscle defects in adult *C. elegans* are located in alternativly spliced exons. *Genetics*, 139: 159-169.
- Rogalski, T. M., Mullen, G. P., Gilbert, M. M., Williams, B. D., and Moerman, D. G.
  2000. The unc-112 gene in C. elegans encodes a novel component of cell-matrix adhesion structure required for integrin localization in the muscle cell membrane.
  J. Cell Biol., 150: 253-264.
- Rose, L. S., and Kemphues, K. J. 1998. Early patterning of the C. elegans embryo. Ann. Rev. Genet., 32: 521-545.
- Rosenbluth, J. 1965. Structural organization of obliquely striated muscle fibers in Ascaris lumbricoides. J. Cell Biol., 25: 495-515.
- Rudnicki, M., Braun, T., Hinuma, S., and Jaenisch, R. 1992. Inactivation of *MyoD* in mice leads to up-regulation of the myogenic HLH gene *myf-5* and results in apparently normal muscle development. *Cell*, 71: 383-390.

- Rudnicki, M., Schnegelsberg, P., Stead, R., Braun, T., Arnold, H., and Jaenisch, R. 1993. MyoD or myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell, 75: 1351-1359.
- Rudnicki, M., and Jaenisch, R. 1995. The MyoD family of transcription factors and skeletal myogenesis. *BioEssays*, 17: 203-209.
- Rushforth, A. M., Saari, B., and Anderson, P. 1993. Site-selected insertion of the transposon Tc1 into a C. elegans myosin light chain gene. Mol. Cell. Biol., 13: 902-910.
- Rushforth, A. M., White, C. C., and Anderson, P. 1998. Functions of the C. elegans regulatory myosin light chain genes *mlc-1* and *mlc-2*. Genetics, 150: 1067-1077.
- Sabourin, L. A., and Rudnicki, M. A. 2000. The molecular regulation of myogenesis. *Clinic Genetics*, 57: 16-25.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsh, E. F., and Maniatis, T. 1989. Molecular cloning, a laboratory manual, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Cold Spring Harbor, New York, Cold Spring Harbor Press.
- Schachat, F., Garcea, R. L, and Epstein, H. F. 1978. Myosins exist as homodimers of heavy chains: demonstration with specific antibody purified by nematode mutant myosin affinity chromatography. *Cell*, 15: 405-11.
- Schliwa, M. 1999. Myosin steps backwards. Nature, 401: 431-432.
- Schmid, M. F., and Epstein, H. F. 1998. Muscle thick filaments are rigid coupled tubules, not flexible ropes. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton*, 41: 195-201.

Schumacher, J. M., Golden A., and Donovan P. J. 1998. Air-2: an Aurora/Ip11-related

protein kinase associated with chromosomes and midbody microtubules is required for polar body extrusion and cytokinesis in *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryos. J. Cell Biol., 143: 1635-1646.

- Sellers, J. R. 2000. Myosins: a diverse superfamily. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1496: 3-22.
- Seydoux, G., and Dunn, M. A. (1997). Transcriptionally repressed germ cells lack a subpopulation of phosphorylated RNA polymerase II in early embryos of *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Drosophila melanogaster*. Development, 124: 2191-2201.
- Seydoux, G., Mello, C. C., Pettitt, J., Wood, W. B., Priess, J. R., and Fire A. 1996. Repression of gene expression in the embryonic germ lineage of *C. elegans*. *Nature*, 382: 713-716.
- Shelton, C. A., Carter, J. C., Ellis, G. C., and Bowerman, B. 1999. The nonmuscle myosin regulatory light chain gene *mlc-4* is required for cytokinesis, anteriorposterior polarity, and body morphology during *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryogenesis. J. Cell Biol., 146: 439-451.
- Sibley, M. H., Johnson, J. J., Mello, C. C., and Kramer, J. M. 1993. Genetic identification, sequence, and alternative splicing of the *C. elegans* alpha2(IV) collagen gene. *J. Cell Biol.*, 123: 255-264.
- Sibley, M. H., Graham, P. L., von Mende, N., and Kramer, J. M. 1994. Mutations in the alpha2 (IV) basement membrane collagen gene of *C. elegans* produce phenotypes of differing severities. *EMBO J.*, 13: 3278-3275.

Sil, A., and Herskowitz, I. 1996. Identification of asymmetrically localized determinant,

Ash1p, required for lineage-specific transcription of the yeast HO gene. Cell, 84: 711-722.

- Sikorski, R. S., Michaud, W. A., Wootton, J. C. Boguski. M. S., Connelly, C., and Hieter,
  P. 1991. TPR proteins as essential components of the yeast cell cycle. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.*, LVL: 663-673.
- Smerdu, V., Karsch-Mizrachi, I., Campione, M., Leinwand, L. A., and Schiaffino, S. 1994. Type Iix myosin heavy chain transcripts are expressed in type Iib fibers of human skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol., 267: C1723-C1728.
- Smith, D. B., and Johnson, K. S. 1988. Single-step purification of polypeptides expressed in *Escherichia coli* as fusions with glutathione-S-transferase. *Gene*, 67: 31-40.
- Standiford, D. M., Davis, M. B., Sun, W., and Emerson, Jr., C. P. 1997. Splice-junction elements and intronic sequence regulate alternative splicing of the *Drosophila* mysoin heavy chain gene transcript. *Genetics*, 147: 725-741.
- Stone, S., and Shaw, J. E. 1993. A C. elegans act-4::lacZ fusion: Use as a transformation marker and analysis of tissue-specific expression. Gene, 131: 167-173.
- Strathern, J. N., and Herskowitz, I. 1979. Asymmetry and directionality in production of new cell types during clonal growth: the switching pattern of homothallic yeast. *Cell*, 17: 371-81.
- Strome, S., and Wood, W. B. 1982. Immunofluorescence visualization of germ-linespecific cytoplasmic granules in embryos, larvae, and adults of *C. elegans. Proc. Natl. Acad, Sci. (USA)*, 79: 1558-1562.

Strome S., and Wood, W. B. 1983. Generation of asymmetry and segregation of germ-

line granules in early C. elegans embryos. Cell, 35: 15-25.

- Strome, S. 1989. Generation of cell diversity during early embryogenesis in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Int. Rev. Cyto., 114: 81-123.
- Sulston, J. E., and Horvitz, H. R. 1977. Post-embryonic cell lineage of the nematode C. elegans. Dev. Biol., 56: 110-156.
- Sulston, J. E., Schierenberg, E., White, J. G., and Thomson, J. N. 1983. The embryonic cell lineage of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Dev. Biol.*, 100: 64-119.
- Tabara, H., Grishok, A., and Mello, C. C. 1998. RNAi in C. elegans: soaking in the genome sequence. Science, 282: 430-431.
- Takizawa, P. A., Sil, A., Swedlow, J. R., Herskowitz, I., and Vale, R. D. 1997. Actindependent localization of an RNA encoding a cell-fate determinant in yeast. *Nature*, 389: 90-93.
- Takizawa, P. A., and Vale, R. D. 2000. The myosin motor, Myo4p, binds *Ash1* mRNA via the adapter protein, She3p. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA)*, 97: 5273-5278.
- Talmadge, R. J., Grossman, E. J., and Roy, R. R. 1996. Myosin heavy chain composition of adult feline (*Felis catus*) limb and diaphragm muscle. J. Exp. Zool., 275: 413-420.
- Talmadge, R. J. 2000. Myosin heavy chain isoform expression following reduced neuromuscular activity: potential regulatory mechanisms. *Muscle Nerve*, 23: 661-679.
- Tanaka, K., Suzuki, T., and Chiba, T. 1998. The ligation system for ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. *Mol. Cell*, 8: 503-512.
- Terami, H., Williams, B. D., Kitamura, S., Sakube, Y., Matsumoto, S., Doi, S., Obinata,

T., and Kagawa, H. 1999. Genomic organization, Expression, and analysis of the troponin C gene *pat-10* of *C. elegans. J. Cell Biol.*, 146: 193-202.

- Timmons, L., and Fire, A. 1998. Specific interference by ingested dsRNA. *Nature*, 395: 854.
- Titus, M. A. 1998. Coming to grips with a multitude of myosins. *Trends Cell Biol.*,8: 171-172.
- Titus, M. A. 2000. Getting to the point with myosin VI. Curr. Biol., 10: R294-R297.
- Venolia, L., and R.H. Waterston. 1990. The unc-45 gene of C. elegans is an essential muscle-affecting gene with maternal expression. Genetics, 126: 345-354.
- Venolia, L., W. Ao, S. Kim, C. Kim, and D. Pilgrim. 1999. unc-45 gene of Caenorhabditis elegans encodes a muscle-specific tetratricopeptide repeatcontaining protein. Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton, 42: 163-177.
- Wang, S. M., Coljee, V. M., Pignolo, R. J., Rotenberg, M. O., Cristofalo, V. J., and Sierra, F. 1997. Cloning of the human twist gene: Its expression is retained in adult mesodermally-derived tissues. *Gene*, 187: 83-92.
- Waterston, R. H., Epstein, H. F., and Brenner, S. 1974. Paramyosin of C. elegans. J. Mol. Biol., 90: 285-290.
- Waterston, R. H., Fishpool, R. M., and Brenner, S. 1977. Mutations affecting paramyosin in *C. elegans. J. Mol. Biol.*, 177: 679-697.
- Waterston, R. H., Thomson, J. N., and Brenner, S. 1980. Mutants with altered muscle structure in C. elegans. Dev. Biol., 77: 271-302.
- Waterston, R. H., Hirsh, D., and Lane, T. R. 1984. Dominant mutation affecting structure in *C. elegans* that map near the actin gene cluster. *J. Mol. Biol.*, 180: 473-496.

- Waterston, R.H. 1988. Muscle. In "The nematode Caenorhabditis elegans". W. B.
  Wood, editor. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York, 281-335.
- Waterston, R. H. 1989 . The minor myosin heavy chain, MHC A, of *Caenorhabditis* elegans is necessary for the initiation of thick filament assembly. *EMBO J.*, 8: 3429-3436.
- Weiss, A., and Leinwand, L. A. 1996. The mammalian myosin heavy chain gene family. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol., 12: 417-439.
- Weiss, A., Schiaffino, S., and Leinwand, L. A. 1999. Comparative sequence analysis of the complete human sarcomeric myosin heavy chain family: implication for functional diversity. J. Mol. Biol., 290: 61-75.
- Wells, A. L., Lin, A. W., Chen, L. Q., Shafer, D., Cain, S. M., Hasson, T., Carragher, B.O., Milligan, R. A., and Sweeney, H. L. 1999. Myosin VI is an actin-based motor that moves backwards. *Nature*, 401: 505-508.
- Wendland, B., McCaffery, J. M., Xiao, Q., and Emr, S. D. 1996. A novel fluorescenceactivated cell sorter-based screen for yeast endocytosis mutants identifies a yeast homologue of mammalian eps15. J. Cell Biol., 135: 1485-1500.
- Williams, B. D., and Waterston, R. H., 1994. Genes critical for muscle development and function in *C. elegans* identified through lethal mutations, *J. Cell Biol.*, 124: 475-490.

Wissmann, A., Ingles, J., McGhee, J. D., and Mains, P. E. 1997. Caenorhabditis elegans

LET-502 is related to Rho-binding kinases and human myotonic dystrophy kinase and interacts genetically with a homolog of the regulatory subunit of smooth muscle myosin-associated phosphatase. *Genes Dev.*, 11: 409-422.

- Wissmann, A., Ingles, J., and Mains P. E. 1999. The Caenorhabditis elegans mel-11 myosin phosphatase regulatory subunit affects tissue contraction in the somatic gonad and the embryonic epidermis and genetically interacts with the Rac signaling pathway. Dev. Biol., 209: 111-127.
- Wood, W. B. 1988. The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- Wright, W., Sassoon, D., and Lin, V. 1989. Myogenin, a factor regulating myogenesis, has a domain homologous to MyoD. *Cell*, 33: 575-583.
- Yeh, E. T., Gong, L., and Kamitani, T. 2000. Ubiquitin-like proteins: new wines in new bottles. *Gene*, 248: 1-14.
- Zhang, J. M., Chen, L., Krause, M., Fire, A., and Paterson, B. M. 1999. Evolutionary conservation of MyoD function and differential utilization of E proteins. *Dev. Biol.*, 208: 465-472.
- Zhen, M., Heinlein, R., Jones, D., Jentsch S., and Candido, E. P. M. 1993. The ubc-2 gene of C. elegans encodes a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme involoved in selective protein degradation. Mol. Cell. Biol., 13: 1371-1377.
- Zhen, M., Schein, J. E., Bailie, D. L., and Candido, E. P. M. 1996. An essential ubiquitinconjugating enzyme with tissue and developemental specificity in the nematode C. elegans. EMBO J., 15: 3229-3237.